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The quality of knowing and doing The quality of knowing and doing 
what is morally right; integrity, what is morally right; integrity, 

honesty, ethics, principlehonesty, ethics, principle

Sharing and working Sharing and working 
together for a common together for a common 

purpose; service, belonging, purpose; service, belonging, 
commitment, trustcommitment, trust

Behaviour in accord with rules of Behaviour in accord with rules of 
conduct; self-control, dignityconduct; self-control, dignity

Due regard for the feelings, wishes, or rights Due regard for the feelings, wishes, or rights 
of others; consideration, thoughtfulness, of others; consideration, thoughtfulness, 

courtesy, open-mindednesscourtesy, open-mindedness

Persistence in doing something Persistence in doing something 
despite difficulty or delay in despite difficulty or delay in 
achieving success; tenacity, achieving success; tenacity, 

determination, resolvedetermination, resolve

Capable of thinking or acting Capable of thinking or acting 
for oneself; self-reliance, for oneself; self-reliance, 
confidence, originality, confidence, originality, 

empowermentempowerment

The quality of being outstanding, The quality of being outstanding, 
achieving your potential; achieving your potential; 

distinction, brilliance, meritdistinction, brilliance, merit

We are committed to empowering learners to reach their full potential through a 
holistic education.

    Our students develop an appreciation for cultural diversity while being prepared 
to become confident responsible and active global citizens.
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Our mission is to achieve our Vision through: 

• Providing our pupils with learning opportunities that maximise their potential 
through structured programmes of academic and extracurricular activities  

• Offering challenging, internationally recognised programmes and 
qualifications  

• Developing global citizens, with compassion for others and the courage to act 
on their beliefs in accordance with our school values  

• Providing a platform to develop principled leaders O
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HEAD OF SCHOOL OVERVIEW
Northfields has achieved many positive outcomes over the year year through the growth of the school 
community and the development of its pastoral, learning support and extracurricular programmes. 
Student enrolment has increased by 8.7% from last year with the arrival of students from other schools 
in Mauritius and from abroad. Staffing has been expanded to accommodate this growth through the 
targeted recruitment of experienced teachers and administrative support staff, and Northfields currently 
employs 241 people. The new staff who have joined Northfields this year have added positively to the 
school dynamics and introduced fresh ideas and enthusiasm in their teaching across the school.

Northfields has expanded its capacity to accommodate students arriving with limited English through 
the establishment of an English immersion programme and a strengthened team of English as 
Additional Language staff. The school has also implemented means to provide for higher levels of 
support through supplemental fees where appropriate. In this way the school can continue to build its 
climate of inclusion in a sustainable manner. 

Academically, students throughout the different sections of the school have made great strides from Pre 
Nursery through to Sixth Form. However, the IGCSE and IBDP examinations results for 2023 were lower 
than usual for the school, and improvement in students’ examination performance over the coming 
year is an area of focused action across the High School. 

In response to the high number of weather days seen during the year, Northfields has made provision 
for more effective online lessons by building capacity for synchronous learning during unexpected 
school closure through upgrading of staff devices and fine tuning of weather day procedures. 

Northfields has maintained its tradition of strong involvement in extracurricular and community 
activities. Sports fixtures, inter-school academic competitions, camps and overseas trips resumed 
successfully and have helped to rebuild motivation levels and balance among the students. The school 
has continued development of its music and arts programmes, and Northfields’ recent achievement in 
being selected as the top Secondary School for the National Environmental Awards was a highlight at 
the end of the year. 

The merging of IPS has allowed for sharing of best practice as detailed planning for full alignment 
continues into the year ahead. Northfields’ work toward Council of International Schools (CIS) 
accreditation has progressed according to plan with completion of the Community Survey, submission 
of preliminary reports and ongoing collaboration 
through the self-study in preparation for the team 
evaluation visit in March 2024. IPS’s success this 
year in achieving CIS re-accreditation and IB 
authorisation has provided a positive model for 
the Northfields steering committee to follow.

The Parent Committee continues to provide 
outstanding support for the School and the 
wider community. Their community building and 
fundraising efforts have been a great success 
and have allowed for meaningful donations to 
several charities throughout the year. The Parent 
Committee is also committed to expanding its 
support initiatives in all sections of the school as 
they lay the foundation for wider engagement 
across both Primary sections following the merger.

Facilities projects for expansion and upgrade 
to existing facilities have been completed to 
accommodate the increased student enrolment 
seen in all sections of the school. The projects 
have included provision of additional classroom 
space for the Secondary School and upgrades to 
the PYP Primary School (IPS). Long-term planning 
for other projects is also underway to prepare for 
further development of the Montessori Primary 
School in the coming years. 
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ORGANISATIONAL OVERVIEW
Northfields started in 2001 as an International High School and has expanded its operations to include 
a Pre-Nursery and Primary School which recently merged with International Preparatory School (IPS). 
The Board of Directors gives strategic direction and monitors executive management’s effectiveness in 
implementing strategic decisions.

Northfields is well established as a Cambridge Examination Centre for the International General 
Certificate of Secondary Education (IGCSE) and as an International Baccalaureate (IB) World School 
for the continuum of the Primary Years Programme (PYP), the Middle Years Programme (MYP), and the 
Diploma Programme (DP). Northfields also offers the Montessori programme in the Pre-Nursery and 
Primary School. The school has taken important strides in recent years in achieving CIS membership 
for Northfields and reaccreditation for IPS. Northfields has also achieved the Eco-Schools Silver Award 
accreditation. 

Northfields is well down the path of seeking CIS accreditation for all schools and the Eco-Schools 
Green Flag level accreditation. These are globally recognised standards that give parents the comfort of 
Northfields’ ability to provide educational services to a measurable and professional standard. 

EXTERNAL ENVIRONMENT
The Board regularly scans its external environment to assess its strategies and to propose actions that 
would ensure academic success and sustainable results. 

ACADEMIC MODEL
The Group has always been inspired by the quest for “Excellence” and “all-round growth” for its students, 
teachers and other employees. Its model is one that engages all stakeholders in building an environment 
where all learners are enabled and inspired to reach their full potential. 

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
The Board of Directors consistently relies on non-financial and financial performance indicators. Annual 
examination results and other measures of student progress and attainment are closely monitored and 
compared with those of other schools locally and against global averages. 

One of the Key Performance Indicators that the Board closely monitors is the School’s financial health, 
including student-to-teacher and teacher efficiency ratios. Financial ratios such as operating cash flow 
and gearing ratio regards to planned budget v/s actual are monitored on a monthly basis. The Board also 
approves Senior Managers KPI’s and these are also closely monitored. The Directors consider the KPI’s to 
be quantifiable measures that are used to measure the judiciousness of its strategies and to determine if 
the Group’s goals are met.

ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES

Northfields is committed to being a “GREEN SCHOOL” and is focused on three main areas namely energy 
efficiency, waste management and green surroundings. Energy consumption is one of the main criteria 
driving the selection of new equipment. 

The School’s long-term responsible air conditioning project has been advanced this year with the 
installation of timers to ensure that no unnecessary power is wasted. All new units are inverter-type 
models and are installed with the idea that they can easily be turned into off-grid units.
The LED lighting installation has continued this year, with the classrooms and exterior passageway 
lights being fitted with low-energy fittings and bulbs (LED) in preparation for going off-grid through the 
installation of solar panels.

Northfields has installed solar roof panels which produce electricity as part the Renewable Energy 
Generation Schemes offered by the Central Electricity Board (CEB), and the School is currently reviewing a 
plan of installing additional solar panels with the goal of taking Northfields off the grid.
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HEALTH AND SAFETY ISSUES
Northfields prides itself on being a caring employer that values the health and safety of its students, 
employees and visitors and implements best practices in ensuring their health, safety and security through 
promoting good and safe work practices.  

Regular Health and Safety Audits are carried out to clearly identify and eliminate risks and hazards. 

The Health and Safety Committee includes representatives from all departments and is chaired by the 
Head of School.

SOCIAL ISSUES
Northfields recognises the importance of all its stakeholders and is committed to helping ease social and 
environmental problems in our community. The School prides itself in being a responsible member of the 
community and supports various initiatives to encourage wellbeing through the development of sport and 
other healthy and enriching activities.  

Northfields has always and will always have a role to play in promoting societal, ethical and moral 
values in line with the school’s guiding statements. It regards its relationship to society as important as its 
relationship to its customers, investors and employees.

GROWTH AND EXPANSION
Responding to the increasing demand for quality education in Mauritius, Northfields has embarked on an 
ambitious journey of expansion and development. 

The School’s commitment to providing an exceptional learning environment for a growing number of 
students has led the construction of several 
additional classrooms, creating more space 
for inspiration and innovation to thrive. These 
new facilities are thoughtfully designed to 
cater to the evolving needs of the students 
and staff, ensuring a conducive atmosphere 
for academic excellence. 
 
Northfields has also invested substantially 
in building its online learning platforms and 
capacity for remote teaching and learning. 
This not only better prepares for continuity in 
the event of school closures but also allows 
the school to expand its offering to students 
abroad.

Garden and lawn water is delivered from the school’s borehole.

Northfields through the Parent Committee has been able to establish and maintain safe drinking water 
points across its campuses, offering students free and safe drinking water both ambient and cold options. 
This means that Northfields’ canteen no longer purchases or sells drinking water in plastic bottles. 
The canteen also encourages the use of re-usable cutlery and containers for school meals and no 
longer purchases disposable plastic cutlery or polystyrene containers. Waste separation bins have been 
purchased and distributed across the campuses to facilitate recycling.  

As testament to the School’s leadership in this area, Northfields was placed first in Mauritius under the 
Secondary School category in the prestigious National Environmental Awards 2023. This remarkable 
achievement recognises Northfields’ collective efforts in promoting a sustainable future and making a 
positive impact on the environment. This win in the Environmental Awards 2023 has inspired the school 
community to continue striving for excellence in sustainability and serving as a catalyst for positive 
change.  Northfields is motivated to expand our efforts, forge new partnerships, and lead by example in 
creating a greener, cleaner, and more sustainable world.
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SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
In the spirit of Northfields’ commitment to excellence and global responsibility, the school has developed 
a Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) policy. The policy is intricately linked to the United Nations 
Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) as a pivotal framework to guide the school’s actions so that they 
align with the broader mission of creating a sustainable and inclusive world.

The School’s learning programmes and initiatives are coordinated under a global programme with the 
support of a dedicated Eco School Coordinator. This key role involves meticulous planning of events, 
spearheading environmental audits and coordinating various eco-friendly initiatives. The School’s 
dynamic team of student Eco School Leaders play a crucial role in the hands-on implementation 
of sustainability practices and these students serve as role models for embracing sustainable living 
throughout the school community.

The school also recognises that its impact can adversely affect the environment and is seeking ways to 
mitigate these aspects of its operations. In particular, increased traffic arising from the operation of three 
sizeable schools in close proximity has presented challenges for the community. The adverse effects, 
particularly on traffic flow, have been a focal point of attention and continuous improvement efforts. The 
school is actively exploring innovative and sustainable solutions together with the local authorities for 
road improvements and other improvements to alleviate the impact on our community. The School has 
also promoted the use of common transport and has introduced a shuttle service to and from Mont Choisy 
as well as proposed other drop off/pick up areas for our families to consider. 

INITIATIVES FOR NORTHFIELDS CSR JOURNEY

Northfields consistently implements initiatives that promote waste reduction, energy efficiency and 
environmental education among others. The School’s sustainability practices extend beyond the campus 
gates, touching the lives of the students, staff, families and the community at large. Whether through 
tree-planting, clean-up and recycling programmes, or educational workshops, each action contributes to 
a more sustainable future. 

The School has proposed initiatives in line with each SDG for students, staff and parents to consider as 
part of their activities planning each year: 
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UN SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 
GOAL

PROPOSED INITIATIVES FOR NORTHFIELDS CSR JOURNEY

Goal 1: No Poverty
Establish a scholarship fund for underprivileged students

Collaborate with shelters to address hunger

Goal 2: Zero Hunger
Organize food drives to support local communities in need

Implement a school garden to teach students about food security

Goal 3: Good Health and Well-
being

Conduct health awareness campaigns and workshops

Partner with healthcare organizations for free health check-ups

Goal 4: Quality Education
Offer free mentoring for students from disadvantaged backgrounds

Support local schools, shelters with resources and teaching materials

Goal 5: Gender Equality
Organize workshops and discussions on gender equality

Create an inclusive environment that promotes gender awareness

Goal 6: Clean Water and Sanitation
Raise awareness about water conservation and hygiene

Initiate clean water projects for communities lacking access

Goal 7: Affordable and Clean 
Energy

Implement energy-saving measures in the school infrastructure

Educate students about renewable energy and its benefits

Goal 8: Decent Work and Economic 
Growth

Provide career guidance and internship opportunities

Support local businesses and entrepreneurs through partnerships

Goal 9: Industry, Innovation, and 
Infrastructure

Organize innovation challenges to encourage creativity

Promote STEM education to prepare students for modern industries

Goal 10: Reduced Inequality
Host events to raise awareness about social inequalities

Collaborate with NGOs to support marginalized groups

Goal 11: Sustainable Cities and 
Communities

Initiate community clean-up and beautification projects

Goal 12: Responsible Consumption 
and Production

Promote waste reduction through recycling campaigns

Educate students about responsible consumer choices

Goal 13: Climate Action
Implement eco-friendly practices and reduce carbon footprint

Raise awareness about climate change and its impacts

Goal 14: Life Below Water
Organize beach clean-up events to protect aquatic ecosystems

Educate students about marine conservation and biodiversity

Goal 15: Life on Land
Create and maintain a school garden for biodiversity

Participate in reforestation and habitat restoration projects

Goal 16: Peace and Justice Strong 
Institutions

Promote human rights education and conflict resolution

Engage in community projects that enhance social justice

Goal 17: Partnerships to achieve the 
Goal

Collaborate with local organizations for collective impact

Establish partnerships with other IB schools for global projects

By encouraging engagement with a selection of these UN SDGs each year, the School intents to forge a 
path towards positive change, instilling values of responsibility and global citizenship in the hearts and 
minds of the students.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
Northfields Group has confirmed its commitment to social responsibility through the various initiatives led 
by students, staff and parents of the School. Many projects have been funded by Northfields and its Parent 
Committee and are generally targeted at the less financially able parts of the community. 
Projects have included monthly collections of second-hand items, Christmas food drive for donation 
through Caritas to local families in need and a blood donation drive.

CHARITABLE AND POLITICAL CONTRIBUTIONS
Contributions have been made through student-led projects to support the under privileged with 
donations to several different organisations. The School has also held activities to raise cancer awareness 
and collected funds for donation to Link to Life and the Cancer Association of Mauritius.

It has and will always be the Board’s policy not to make to any political donation. 
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DATE EVENT
ORGANISERS

DETAILS
CHARITY / 

FOUNDATIONSTUDENTS STAFF PARENTS

1 14.09.22 Blood donation X Students & Parents Blood Bank

2 30.09.22 Second hand collection X Parent Committee Caritas Solitude

3 22.09.22 International Day of Peace X Assistant Principal- SLWB Link to Life

4 28.10.22 Second hand collection X Parent Committee Madagascar

5 31.10.22 Halloween X Parent Committee Parent Committee

6 6.11.22 Christmas Bake sale and Book sale X
Parent Committee and 
Year 12/13 students

Sixth Form Prom

7 25.11.23 Old Folks Home Groceries X Parent Committee
Rosie Le Meme Adventist Home 
for the Elderly

8 28.11.22 Delivery of grocery bags (PC & SRC) X Parent Committee SOS Children’s Village

9 29.11.22 Health Awareness Day X
Awareness about Di-
abetes – organised by 
students

Link to Life

10 30.11.22
PC trip to boys orphanage together 
with 4 Year 13 boys(port louis)

X Parent Committee Foyer Pere Laval Orphanage

11 30.11.22 Movember X
Organised by students 
and CAS coordinator

Cancer Association of Mauritius

12 2.12.22 Second hand collection X Parent Committee Serendipity

13 1.12.22
PC trip to girls orphanage together 
with 4 Year 12 girls (Rose Hill)

X Parent Committee
Foyer Monseigneur Leen orphan-
age

14 30.03.23 Second Hand Collection X Parent Committee The Good Shop

15 6.12.22
PC trip to SOS Village to deliver gifts 
bags with SRC members(Curepipe)

X Parent Committee SOS Children’s Village

16 14.02.23 Valentines Day - Bake Sale X X
Parent Committee and 
Year 12/13 students

Fundraising for both prom and 
the charity - The ripple project 
-Help deprived girls with sanitary 
pads and hygiene products.

17 03.03.23 International Wildlife Day X
Pre-Nursery – Donation 
of Rs 100

Mauritius Wildlife Foundation

18 31.03.23 Fun Run and Red Nose Day X X
Assistant Principal- SLWB 
and Sixth Form students

Youth United in Voluntary Action

19 26.05.23 Second Hand Collection X Parent Committee All Life Matters

Refer to the table below for the initiatives implemented throughout the year.
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SWOT ANALYSIS 
Northfields conducts regular SWOT analyses to ensure strategic planning and operational decisions are 
fully informed by present and projected circumstances as an international school in Mauritius. The Board 
and management have identified and considered the School’s strengths and weaknesses as well as 
opportunities and threats, on local, regional and international levels. These analyses continually guide 
decision making and governance to ensure the success and sustainability of the School going forward.

ADMISSIONS
Northfields has seen a steady growth since its inception, and the School has experienced a significant 
increase in demand in recent years. The number of students enrolled at Northfields for the start of 
academic year 2023-2024 has increased bringing total enrolment to 1264 students across all sections of 
the School (PYP, Montessori and Secondary) from the Pre-Nursery through Year 13,

HUMAN RESOURCES
STAFFING FIGURES 

Northfields currently employs 241 full-time and part-time members of staff at Northfields International 
High School (NIHS), Northfields International Nursery and Primary School (NINPS), Montessori & PYP 
sections, and Northfields International Nursery and Junior School (NINJS). The table below shows the 
distribution of staff among the different sections of the School. The figures are shown with part-time 
employees represented by decimal figures in proportion to full-time equivalent hours.

SCHOOL SECTION PART-TIME FULL-TIME FULL TIME EQUIVALENT

NINJS 0.1 11 11.1

NINPS Montessori 0.8 29 29.8

NINPS PYP 75 75

NIHS 0.8 124 124.8

TOTAL 1.7 239 240.7

The proportion of expatriate staff this year is in line with those years prior to the pandemic. Currently, 16% 
of staff are employed with occupation permits overall, and 22% of our academic staff have occupation 
permits. Northfields is obliged to ensure that at least 70% of its employee are Mauritian citizens. 



10

STUDENT ACHIEVEMENT
Northfields students have continued to achieve commendable levels both academically and through their 
extracurricular activities as part of the holistic programme offered at the School.

The May/June 2023 external examination results for IGCSE and IBDP, although inline with global 
averages, were disappointing against the high standard we set for ourselves. The School recognises that 
the impacts of disrupted learning during the Covid period has had lasting effects on its learners and is 
implementing targeted actions to bolster all students approaches to learning over the years to come. 

For the Cambridge examinations, Year 11 students’ International General Certificate of Secondary 
Education (IGCSE) achievement showed the effects of closure most acutely with 43 of the 67 candidates 
achieved 5 or more A* to C grades, and 5 candidates achieving 5 or more distinctions. However, the 
overall percentage of C or above grades fell below the level  the school expects. The historical grade 
distributions for this and previous years are shown below.

STAFFING DEMOGRAPHICS

GENDER AND AGE GROUP DISTRIBUTIONS 

STAFF TRAINING
Northfields believes that investing in its employees’ professional development is fundamental to achieving 
its educational objectives. The School’s comprehensive training programs cover a spectrum of areas, 
including pedagogical advancements, technological proficiency, safeguarding, ethics and leadership 
skills. To ensure the effectiveness of these initiatives, meticulous records of training attendance are 
maintained, allowing the School to track individual progress and tailor future development plans 
accordingly. Northfields remains dedicated to providing ongoing opportunities for growth, underscoring 
the Northfields’ pledge to empower every member of the School community to thrive in their respective 
roles. 
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Student achievement in the latest IB DP examination session also reflected lower levels than the school’s 
previous cohorts. 77% of the DP candidates were successful in achieving the full diploma, with 20% of 
those students achieving the bilingual diploma. The average total of 29 for the cohort was slightly below 
the global average for the year. The historical point distributions for this and previous years are shown 
below.

Northfields students have also achieved wide ranging growth and success through extracurricular activities 
including in a variety of sporting and other inter-house and interschool events and competitions. Students 
have developed leadership skills and social and environmental awareness through the Schools focus on 
global citizenship and the opportunities provided throughout the year to engage with various causes and 
organisations locally and internationally. 
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ACCREDITATIONS, AUTHORISATIONS AND 
EVALUATIONS

Northfields’ commitment to excellence in education is at the centre of every decision. The School 
works with several associations and organisations that share this commitment to quality education 
and is proud to be affiliated with the organisations and educational bodies listed below. 

INTERNATIONAL BACCALAUREATE 
PROGRAMME

Northfields together with IPS offer a continuum of programmes 
which includes the Primary Years Programme (PYP), the Middle 
Years Programme (MYP) and the Diploma Programme (DP). The 
three programmes are philosophically aligned, each centred on 
developing attributes of the IB learner profile. Students who have 
taken the PYP and MYP will therefore be well prepared for the 
challenges of DP in their final years of high school.

Northfields has been fully authorised to offer the DP since 
December 2006 and the MYP since 2021. IPS have been authorised 
to offer the PYP since 2018. Northfields maintains quality control 
across all of the IB programmes and participates in regular 
evaluation visits with IB representatives on a 5-yearly basis to 
ensure the school is implementing the latest IB standards and 
practices to a high level.

COUNCIL OF INTERNATIONAL SCHOOLS

IPS is fully accredited by the Council of International Schools (CIS). 
Northfields has been a member of CIS since 2018 and is now on 
the path to full accreditation with the CIS body. This process involves 
a series of visits from CIS representatives and an in-depth self-study 
over a period of 18 to 24 months. 

Following the recent CIS Preparatory Visit in May 2022, Northfields 
is currently conducting the self-study with a view to hosting the 
Evaluation Visit in March 2024. Recommendations provided by CIS 
through the preparatory visit report are being considered by the 
leadership team in preparing an action plan which will inform the 
school strategic plan going forward. This plan will focus on four 
drivers: Purpose and Direction, High Quality Learning and Teaching, 
Student Wellbeing and Global Citizenship.

ASSOCIATION OF INTERNATIONAL 
SCHOOLS IN AFRICA (AISA)

IPS is a full member of the Association of International Schools 
in Africa (AISA), and Northfields has been granted affiliate 
membership pending full CIS accreditation. Membership also 
provides recognition for the school, with AISA serving as an 
information hub for international families.
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FURTHER DEVELOPMENT 
The merger with IPS is a major focus for the school with a view to continue aligning the educational 
programmes and non-academic support functions smoothly and effectively over the coming year. 
Planning sessions and collaborative work have been underway between curriculum leaders and also 
between non-academic staff with respect to Accounts, Facilities, HR, IT and Admin functions at both 
schools. 

The school is also continuing to develop the campus facilities to accommodate its expanding class 
provision and student numbers in all sections of the school. As part of this project, upgrades to the 
parking facilities and pedestrian areas in and around the school are planned. Several upgrades are also 
planned for the IPS Campus facilities, with work already completed to expand and refurbish the Art Room 
and Learning support areas. 

INDEPENDENT SCHOOLS ASSOCIATION 
OF SOUTHERN AFRICA

Northfields is a member school of the Independent Schools 
Association of Southern Africa (ISASA), and benefits from the 
resources and training made available to members. ISASA is the 
oldest, largest and most inclusive independent (private) schools’ 
association in Southern Africa. ISASA serves over 760 schools 
representing a broad spectrum of socio-economic and cultural 
communities, religious affiliations, and educational levels. 
Membership is voluntary and ISASA is not a governing body for 
schools.

ECO-SCHOOLS
The Eco-Schools programme provides an ideal way for fostering 
environmental awareness in the entire school in a way that links 
to many curriculum subjects. The primary aim of the Eco-Schools 
is to educate and empower young people to make positive 
decisions and become change makers for an environmentally 
sustainable world.

There are three award levels within the Eco-Schools programme:
• Bronze
• Silver
• Green Flag

While Bronze and Silver awards are self-assessed, schools must 
apply for a Green Flag Award to be assessed by an Eco-Schools 
program administrator. It is recommended that the award be 
renewed every two years. A school is considered a permanent 
Eco-School once it has gained its fourth Green Flag Award, at 
which point sustainability has been fully woven into the fabric of 
the school’s culture. Northfields has obtained the Silver award 
and has been working towards the Green Flag Award over the 
past year. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
INTRODUCTION

Northfields International Schools Holdings Limited (“the Company”) is a company incorporated in the 
Republic of Mauritius and is a public interest entity as defined by the Financial Reporting Act 2004. 

The corporate governance framework developed by the Board for the Company, including its subsidiaries, 
is based on the eight principles of the National Code of Corporate Governance for Mauritius (2016) 
(“the Code”). The directors and management of the Company are committed to the highest standards of 
business integrity, transparency and professionalism to ensure that the activities within the company are 
managed ethically and responsibly to enhance business value for all stakeholders. 

The Board believes that the application of the framework is integral to the short, medium and long term 
success of the Company, as it creates a process to ensure that relevant information is transparently 
presented to the Board for effective decision making. 

To assist the Board in the application of the framework, Board Committees have been created and these 
structures operate within an authority matrix developed by the Board to ensure that the Board discharges 
its responsibilities in a sustainable manner to create value for all stakeholders of the Company.
This report aims to describe the responsibilities of the Board and its Committees, and how these 
responsibilities have been met.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

The Board consists of Executive and Non-Executive Directors and the Board has a strong Independent 
Non-Executive presence which the Board believes is commensurate with the size and sophistication of the 
Company.

The Board believes in the positive impact of Board member diversity while remaining cognisant of the fact 
that knowledge and industry experience should not be sacrificed in favour of independence.  

The Board is comprised of four independent Directors of which three are female, two executive Directors 
and one non-executive Director.

The Board defines Director independence as Directors that do not have any interest in the Company, in 
terms of shareholding and employment. The independent Directors therefore do not have a relationship 
which could materially affect their ability to exercise objective judgement in the best interest of the 
Company, including all stakeholders. 

The Board of Directors are of the view that the current composition of the Board is adequately balanced 
in terms of skills, gender diversification, experience, independence, knowledge of the Company and the 
environment it operates in.

WEBSITE

As deemed appropriate by the Board, the details of the Company Secretary, Board Charters, Constitution, 
and all relevant corporate governance related policies can be found on the Company website. 

POSITION STATEMENTS AND 
KEY ACCOUNTABILITIES 

Position statements for senior governance positions, together with an organisational structure, including key 
accountabilities are reviewed and approved by the Board on a regular basis but at a minimum once a year.  
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Key responsibilities include:

CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD

• Leading the Board and ascertaining its effectiveness to deliver on the strategic objectives
• Ensuring that all Directors receive accurate, timely and relevant information
• Encouraging active participation from all Board members
• Promoting a boardroom culture that is rooted in the principles of good governance
• Effective engagement with stakeholders

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

• Providing independent judgement and viewpoints
• Providing a sounding board for the Chairman on matters of governance or Board performance
• Assisting in determining the remuneration of Executive Directors
• Availing themselves to stakeholders if they have concerns which have not been resolved through the

normal channels of communication

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

• Providing alternative perspectives and opinions.
• Ensuring that the strategic objectives are being met while the responsibilities towards stakeholders

are fulfilled

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

• Ensuring the highest standards of governance is upheld at Company and Board level
• Together with the Head of School, ensuring that processes are in place to support the execution of

the strategic objectives and the reporting thereof to the Board
• Together with the Finance Manager, ensuring that financial controls are designed and implemented

to support accurate financial reporting
• Selecting and employing senior Executives and Officers
• Designing procurement processes to meet strategic objectives

HEAD OF SCHOOL

• Execution of the strategy and decisions taken by the Board and Shareholders
• Keeping the Board up to date on key strategic plans and significant risks the school may face
• Ensuring that decisions taken are in line with the policies approved by the Board and that the culture

of the school supports the policies and frameworks
• To lead, motivate and develop the school and its staff, so that the school fulfils the academic,

pastoral and social needs of its pupils

CORPORATE SECRETARY

• Ensuring compliance with Board procedures
• Advising the Board on statutory and regulatory requirements to ensure compliance with the Mauritius

Companies Act 2001
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DIRECTORS PROFILES

BRETT CHILDS
JOHN 

MCILRAITH
DIDIER MERVEN 

*HEMA 
CEDERHAGE

ALEXIS BOTES
PROSERPINA 

DHLAMINI-FISHER
MARK VAN 

BEUNINGEN

DIRECTORSHIP
Executive 
Chairman and 
Co-Founder

Executive Director 
and Co-Founder

Non-Executive 
Director 

Independent 
Non- Executive 
Director

Independent 
Non- Executive 
Director

Independent Non-
Executive Director

Independent Non-
Executive Director

EXECUTIVE 
POSITION

Executive 
Director 

Executive Director N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

RESIDENCY Mauritius Mauritius Mauritius Mauritius Mauritius United Kingdom  Mauritius 

KEY 
COMPETENCIES

Extensive 
financial and 
other business 
knowledge and 
experience 

Extensive financial 
and other business 
management, 
and corporate 
governance 
knowledge and 
experience

Extensive 
financial 
knowledge and 
experience

Extensive 
business 
management 
knowledge and 
experience

Extensive 
finance, 
corporate 
governance 
and risk 
management 
knowledge and 
experience

Extensive 
educational 
experience and 
knowledge and 
wider educational 
market knowledge

Extensive financial 
knowledge and 
experience as well 
as experience 
through being 
a Director of 
other educational 
institutions

KEY 
QUALIFICATIONS

Chartered 
Accountant 

Bachelor of 
Commerce in 
Finance

- Postgraduate 
certificate in 
Corporate 
Governance

Chartered 
Accountant

• Master of Arts 
in International 
Education 

• Bachelor of Arts in 
French linguistics 
and phonetics/
teaching French 
as a foreign 
language

• Bachelor of 
Arts in Public 
Administrations/
Sociology 

• Diploma of 
Higher Education 
in assessment 
leadership 

• International 
supervision and 
evaluation 

• Curriculum 
Leadership 

• Master of 
Business 
Administration 

• Chartered 
Financial Analyst 

• Chartered 
Accountant 

• Postgraduate 
Diploma in 
Accounting 

• Bachelor of 
Business Science 
Honors in 
Finance and 
Accounting
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DIRECTORS PROFILESBRETT CHILDS
JOHN 

MCILRAITH
DIDIER MERVEN 

*HEMA 
CEDERHAGE

ALEXIS BOTES
PROSERPINA 

DHLAMINI-FISHER
MARK VAN 

BEUNINGEN

DIRECTORSHIPS 
HELD IN LISTED 

COMPANIES

• United 
Investments 
Limited (SEM)

• African Sun 
Limited (ZSE) 

None • United 
Investments Ltd 
(SEM)

• Novus 
Properties 
(SEM)

None None • African Learning 
International 
(Switzerland) 

• Global Culture 
Education 
Initiative (USA)

CIM Financial 
Services Limited 
(SEM) 

DIRECTORSHIPS 
HELD IN 

OTHER LISTED 
COMPANIES, 
CHAIR AND 
COMMITTEE 

RESPONSIBILITIES

• United 
Investments Ltd 
(SEM)
 »Chairperson of 
the Audit and 
Risk Committee

• African Sun 
Limited (ZSE)
 »Chairperson of 
the Investment 
Committee
 »Member of the 
Audit and Risk 
Committee
 »Member of 
the Marketing 
Committee

None • United 
Investments Ltd 
(SEM)
 »Chairman of 
the Board

• Novus 
Properties 
(SEM)
 »Chairman of 
the Board

None None None • CIM Financial 
Services Limited 
(SEM)
 »Member of 
the Corporate 
Governance 
Committee
 »Member 
of the Risk 
Management 
Committee 
 »Member of 
the Board 
Investment 
Committee

BOARD 
COMMITTEE 
MEMBERSHIP 

• Personnel 
Representative 
Committee

• Audit and Risk 
Committee

• Educational 
Standards and 
Compliance 
Committee

• Corporate 
Governance, 
Nominations 
and Ethics 
Committee 

• Remuneration 
Committee

None • Audit and Risk 
Committee

• Audit and Risk 
Committee

• Educational 
Standards and 
Compliance 
Committee

• Corporate 
Governance, 
Nominations 
and Ethics 
Committee

• Remuneration 
Committee 

• Personnel 
Representative 
Committee

• Educational 
Standards and 
Compliance 
Committee

• Remuneration 
Committee 

• Educational 
Standards and 
Compliance 
Committee 

*Appointed to the Board in May 2023 
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DIRECTORS TRAINING
Safeguarding training: The Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee has completed Safeguarding training 
through the school’s online subscription to Optimus.

School Governance training: The Board members have followed an online School Governance workshop 
led by Mr Chris Muller on 1 March 2023.

HEAD OF SCHOOL AND 
FINANCE MANAGER PROFILES 

PHYLLIS PHILOGENE PREETAM RAUMOO

KEY COMPETENCIES

• Leadership Skills
• Curriculum Knowledge
• Global Citizenship
• Decision making 
• Resilience
• Innovation 
• Visionary

• Leadership Skills
• Financial Knowledge
• Decision making 
• Resilience
• Data analysis
• Technological savvy

KEY 
QUALIFICATIONS

• MA in Applied Educational Leadership 
and Management (2017)

• PGCE (Senior Phase and Further 
Education and Training) (2009)

• Master of Engineering in Civil 
Engineering (1996)

• BSc in Civil Engineering, Geotechnical 
(1994)

• BSc in Geophysics (1994)

• Master of Business Administration 
with Specialization in Finance

• FCCA, Fellow of Chartered Certified 
Accountants (2008)

• Registered member of Mauritius 
Institute of Professional Accountants 
(MIPA)

EXPERIENCE

• NORTHFIELDS INTERNATIONAL 
HIGH SCHOOL 
 »Head of School (2022-present)
 » Principal (2017-2022) 
 »Head of Senior School (2016-2018)
 » Senior Management Team 
(2011-present)
 »Head of Middle School (2010-2016)
 » Timetable Coordinator (2008-2018)
 »Curriculum Development Coordinator 
(2010)
 »Head of Division, Forms 1 and 2 
(2009-2010)
 »Head of Department, Mathematics 
and IT (2008-2010)
 »Head of Department, Geography, Art, 
Home Economics and PSHE (2007-
2008)
 » Form Tutor (2003-2008) 
 » Subject Teacher (2002-2018) 

• 1998-2002 Les Entreprises Phi et 
Cie, Ltée, Pailles, Mauritius
 »Quantifying Estimator 

• 1996-1997 Law Engineering and 
Environmental Services  
Chantilly, Virginia
 » Engineering Consultant 

• 7 Years as Accountant at Manser 
Saxon Contracting Ltd

• 13 Years as Finance Manager at IBL 
Retail Sector, Winners

• 1 Year as Finance Manager at IBL 
HealthActiv

• 6 months as Head of Finance at La 
Clinique Mauricienne

• 2 Years as Finance Manager at 
Northfields
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE

GROUP COMPANY STRUCTURE 
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STATED CAPITAL
As at August 31st, 2023, the stated capital of the Company was Rs. 44,791,000/- issued and partly paid 
1,389 shares divided as follows: 

I. 53 Restricted Voting Founding Shares; 
II. 34 Restricted Voting Full Founding Shares; 
III. 8 Initial Shares; 
IV. 11 Restricted Voting Corporate Shares;    
V. 1,281 Commercial Shares; 
VI. 1 Restricted Voting Business Founding Share; and 
VII. 1 Restricted Voting Participating Primary Share.

DIRECTOR’S INDIRECT INTEREST AND SHAREHOLDING 
IN THE COMPANY 

Director’s indirect shareholding interest in the Company as per the below have remained unchanged 
during the period under review. 

None of the Directors and Officers have any direct interests in the equity of subsidiaries.

DIRECTORS FEES 
Directors’ fees paid for the year under review amounted to Rs 485,850. However, as applicable, specific 
Directors availed themselves to the stepped fee schedules in place.
No Directors received any form of other fixed or variable remuneration which is linked to the performance 
of the school. 

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS INDEMNITY INSURANCE 
The Company maintains liability insurance for the Directors and Officers of the Company and 
subsidiaries. 

DIVIDEND POLICY 
The holders of commercial shares will be entitled to dividends as and when the Board of Directors 
considers it fit to do so. To date, no dividends have been declared or paid. The terms for declaration and 
payment of dividends are laid out in section 13 of the Constitution.

DIRECTORS AS DIRECT AND INDIRECT SHAREHOLDERS        DIRECT INTEREST(%)      INDIRECT INTEREST (%)

Mr Brett Childs
Mr John McIlraith
Mr Didier Merven

-
-

18.72

23.25
46.65

-
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (AGM)
The AGM was held by teleconference on the 27th of February 2023 after the notice for the meeting was 
issued on the 25th of January 2023. The below single resolutions were passed:

• The appointment of Mr Mark van Beuningen as a Director
• The reappointment of the other existing Directors
• That the Board of Directors be given the authority to set the remuneration for Directors based on 

recommendations received from the Remuneration Committee
• That the External Auditors, being UHY & Co be reappointed
• The approval of the Annual Report, including the audited consolidated financial statements for the 

year ended 31 August 2022

Shareholders were given the option of appointing a proxy to attend and vote at the meeting. The notice to 
the AGM and the resolutions passed can be found on the website of the school. 

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES/COMMON DIRECTORS  

*Appointed to the Board in May 2023

Abbreviations
NISHL: Northfields International Schools Holdings Limited
NINJSL: Northfields International Nursery and Junior School Limited 
NINPSL: Northfields International Nursery and Primary School Limited 
NIHSL: Northfields International High School Limited 
NRCL: Northfields Retail Company Limited

DIRECTORS NISHL NINJSL NINPSL NIHSL NRCL

Mr Brett Childs     

Mr John McIlraith     

Mr Didier Merven  

Mrs Hema Cederhage* 

Mrs Alexis Botes 

Mrs Proserpina Dhlamini-Fisher 

Mr Mark van Beuningen 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK

The Board assumes full responsibility for leading, controlling and meeting all legal and regularity 
requirements of the Company and the Directors are aware of their individual legal duties in line with the 
Mauritius Companies Act 2001. The Company Secretary being Navitas Corporate Services advises the 
Board and individual Directors in regards to their legal duties as applicable. 

The Board values good corporate governance and environmental and social matters, and ensures that the 
ongoing development of these areas are maintained as key strategic objectives.  

The Board focuses on ensuring that the corporate governance framework is continually reviewed for 
effectiveness and efficiencies. 

To ensure the framework is in line with best international practice standards, an evaluation of the school’s 
corporate governance framework was performed using the corporate governance scorecard as published 
by the National Committee of Corporate Governance (NCCG) in Mauritius. The Company score achieved 
was 78%. 

This section of the report describes the key aspects of the corporate governance framework which are laid 
out in the below charters:

• Board Charter 
• Audit and Risk Committee Charter 
• Remuneration Committee Charter 
• Educational Standards and Compliance Committee Charter 
• Corporate Governance, Nominations and Ethics Committee Charter 
• Personnel Representative Charter

 
Committee Work Plans as approved by the Board are in place to assist the Board and the respective 
Committees to address the key governance items in a timely manner.

The charters are reviewed at a minimum on a yearly basis and any changes to the charters are approved 
by the Board. 

The below represents an overview of the corporate governance framework.   

 

SAFETY AND 
HEALTH

COMMITTEE

IT
COMMITTEE

SENIOR 
LEADERSHIP 

TEAMS

BOARD 
OF

DIRECTORS

AUDIT AND 
RISK

COMMITTEE

REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE

PERSONNEL
REPRESENTATIVE

COMMITTEE

CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE, 
NOMINATIONS 

AND ETHICS
COMMITTEE

SAFEGUARDING
COMMITTEE

EDUCATIONAL
STANDARDS AND 

COMPLIANCE
COMMITTEE

KEY:
   
       MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

       BOARD COMMITTEE
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BOARD MEETINGS
Board meetings are held on a quarterly basis or more frequently as required. Every Director has one vote 
and the Chairman does not have a casting vote. Any deadlock with regards to a resolution passed by the 
Board is resolved in accordance with the Companies Act of Mauritius. All Board and Committee packs are 
distributed to the Directors, as far as possible, within a reasonable timeframe prior to the meetings taking 
place. 

Independent Directors, as and when required, consult one another prior to the Board meetings. 

The Board is cognisant of the fact that the Chairperson is not an independent Director, however the below 
compensating safeguards have been put in place:

• The majority of the members of the respective Board Committees are independent 
• All Committees are chaired by independent Members
• The Board is represented by four (57%) independent Directors
• The Head of School role and the Chairman role are separated 

The Board are of the view that the above safeguards as put in place are adequate. 

INTEREST REGISTER 

The Board of Directors strictly believe that a director should make his or her best effort to avoid conflicts 
of interests or situations where others might reasonably perceive the Director to be conflicted. However, 
should any conflicts of interests arise, Directors disclose them and the interest register is updated 
accordingly. In the event that a director has a direct conflict of interest, the Director refrains from voting 
on the matter at hand. 

The register is available for consultation by the Shareholders upon written request to the Company 
Secretary. 

During the year under review, four (4) Board meetings were held. 

* Appointed to the Board in May 2023

MEMBERS                                    TITLE                                                        ATTENDANCE 
Mr Brett Childs 
Mr John McIlraith 
Mr Didier Merven 
Mrs Hema Cederhage*
Mrs Alexis Botes 
Mrs Proserpina Dhlamini-Fisher 
Mr Mark van Beuningen
REGULAR INVITEES: 
Mrs Phyllis Philogène
Mrs Hema Charun/Emma Mamet
Mr Preetam Raumoo
Mr Geerish Ramgolam 
Mrs Mandy Arazym

4/4
4/4
3/4
2/4
4/4
3/4
4/4

4/4
4/4
4/4
3/4
2/4

Executive Chairman
Executive Director
Non-Executive Director 
Independent Non-Executive Director 
Independent Non-Executive Director 
Independent Non-Executive Director 
Independent Non-Executive Director 

Head of School
Corporate Secretary
Group Finance Manager
Staff Personnel Representative
Parent Committee Representative
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KEY FOCUS AREAS OF THE BOARD DURING THE YEAR

RECURRING AGENDA ITEMS STRATEGY, FINANCIAL 
AND RISKS 

GOVERNANCE, 
REMUNERATION 

AND PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS 

• Declarations of interests 
• Approval of Minutes 
• Committee Chairman Reports 

(refer to key focus areas of the 
Committee’s below for further 
information)

• Financial Performance including cash 
flow forecasts

• Significant Risks presented through 
the Risk Management Process

• Operational overview and key 
operational developments 

• Overseeing the merger with 
International Preparatory School (IPS)

• Outcome of the Budgeting 
Process

• Annual Report
• Board and Committee work 

plans
• Risk Management process 
• Educational curricula 3-year 

plan 

• Corporate Governance 
Structure and application 
with the Framework

• Board evaluation 
• Key Performance 

Indicators and Targets 
• Remuneration Policies and 

Increases 

BOARD AND COMMITTEE STRUCTURES
EDUCATIONAL STANDARDS AND COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE (ESCC) 
 
Principle Function
To assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities with regards to educational governance. 

Key Areas Focused on during the period and Reported to the Board 
• Identified and monitored the progress made in regards to the school’s strategic and long-term vision 

for: 
          o  Academic programmes
          o  Authorisations, accreditations and evaluations

• Reviewed student achievement based on SMT’s (Senior Management Team) analysis of external 
examination results, internal assessments and extracurricular achievements, deeply understanding 
the factors affecting performance.

• Ensured that ongoing staff professional development is in line with the most recent and up-to date 
pedagogical advances and policies 

• Reviewed the proposed budgetary allocations for the educational provisions of the school to 
ensure that sufficient provision is made for staffing, recourses and training as well as curriculum, 
authorisation and accreditation costs.

MEMBERS                             TITLE                                                                  ATTENDANCE 
Mrs Proserpina Dhlamini-Fisher
Mrs Alexis Botes
Mr John McIlraith
Mr Mark van Beuningen        
REGULAR INVITEES: 
Mrs Phyllis Philogène

4/4
4/4
4/4
4/4

4/4

Independent Non-Executive Director and Chairperson
Independent Non-Executive Director
Executive Director
Independent Non-Executive Director

Head of School

Composition and Meeting Attendance

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Northfields is committed to the learning and development of its entire staff. It actively supports and 
promotes all relevant learning and development, recognising that the School can only function effectively 
if adequate development support is made available to both academic and non-academic staff at all levels.

Internal and external training is planned and budgeted on an annual basis as informed through the 
School’s performance management process and strategic planning. Training is reported on and tracked 
through the ESCC on a quarterly basis.
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PERSONNEL REPRESENTATIVE COMMITTEE (PRC) 
 
Principle Function 
To assist the Board to oversee the effectiveness of how employee related concerns are addressed. 

Key Areas Focused on during the period and Reported to the Board 
• Independently reviewed the representative members’ re-election process and monitored the 

implementation thereof 
• Monitored the effectiveness of processes in place, for which the Head of School is the custodian, to 

ensure that employee related concerns were addressed 
• Monitored the implementation of agreed upon action plans in response to employee related 

concerns raised
• Ensured that action plans are appropriately supported by policies and procedures 

Composition and attendance

MEMBERS                       TITLE                                                                       ATTENDANCE 
Mr Francois Besson
Mrs Alexis Botes
Mr Brett Childs
REGULAR INVITEES: 
Mrs Phyllis Philogène
Mr John McIlraith
Mr Geerish Ramgolam
Mrs Jennifer Perdrau
Mr Wade Smith

3/4
4/4
3/4

4/4
3/4
4/4
4/4
2/4

Independent Chairperson
Independent Non-Executive Director
Executive Director

Head of School
Executive Director
Personnel Representative
Personnel Representative
Personnel Representative

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (REMCO)
 
Principle Function
To assist the Board in setting the remuneration policy and arrangements applicable to all employees and 
Directors to ensure that these arrangements are fair and performance driven considering the needs of all 
stakeholders.  

Key Areas Focused on during the period and Reported to the Board
• Reviewed policies relating to remuneration to ensure compliance with the relevant respective labour 

practices and that these policies support the ultimate workplace culture and strategic objectives
• Monitored the outcome of the performance management process to ensure alignment with agreed 

principles 
• Ensured that performance related increases are awarded to Senior Managers and all other 

employees in accordance with the parameters contained in the remuneration policy
• Reviewed Directors’ fees
• Determined any salary benchmarking needs

MEMBERS                       TITLE                                                                       ATTENDANCE 
Mr Mark van Beuningen 
Mrs Alexis Botes
Mr John McIlraith
REGULAR INVITEES: 
Mrs Phyllis Philogène
Mr Preetam Raumoo

3/3
3/3
3/3

3/3
3/3

Independent Non-Executive Director and Chairperson
Independent Non-Executive Director
Executive Director

Head of School
Group Finance Manager

Composition and attendance



26

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE, NOMINATIONS AND ETHICS 
COMMITTEE (CGNEC)

Principle Function
To assist the Board with the ongoing development of the corporate governance framework and supporting 
policies and procedures to ensure that relevant and transparent information is reported to the respective 
stakeholders in a timely manner. 

Key Areas Focused on during the period and Reported to the Board
• Prepared the Corporate governance section of the Annual Report to ensure how the application 

with the Code of Corporate Governance in Mauritius and international best practices is disclosed 
appropriately 

• Enhanced the corporate governance frameworkk based on the outcome of the NCCH score card 
evaluation performed for recommendation to the Board

• Designed and conducted a Board and Director evaluation assessment to support the Chairman of 
the Board

• Made recommendations in regards to Director training to enhance the concept of ongoing 
professional development 

• Ensured that the anonymous whistleblowing process is facilitated independently with the assistance 
of an external service provider and ensured that the reporting mechanism is accessible to all 
stakeholders

• Reviewed the effectiveness of the conflict-of-interest process 
• Ensured that succussion plans are in place for Directors, senior management and other key 

personnel as identified
• Reviewed the Code of ethics and supporting policies and procedures related to the code to ensure 

effectiveness
• Facilitated the appointment of the new Director and prepared an induction pack to support the 

Director in her new role
• Developed a Corporate Social Responsibility policy and monitored the application thereof which 

included the various contributions made by the school and its stakeholders to the community 

MEMBERS                       TITLE                                                                       ATTENDANCE 
Mrs Alexis Botes 
Mr John McIlraith
REGULAR INVITEES: 
Mrs Phyllis Philogène

3/3
3/3

3/3

Independent Non-Executive Director and Chairperson
Executive Director

Head of School

Composition and attendance

The Board is cognisant of the fact that Board Committees should consist of at least three members and is 
actively searching for a third member. 

KEY POLICY EXTRACTIONS
 
Director Appointment and Re-Election
The Committee is tasked with identifying and recommending suitable Board candidates for the Board’s 
consideration as and when required. 

Directors are appointed based on their specific skills set, industry expertise, and the level of contribution 
they can make to the activities of the Company. Although members of the Board are appointed by the 
Company’s Shareholders, the Board has the authority to appoint Directors to fill any vacancy that may 
arise from time to time in accordance with the Constitution. The re-election of Directors is tabled at each 
AGM. 

The Directors, upon their appointment, are made aware of the over boarding policy to ensure that each 
director has sufficient time to allocate towards the functioning of the corporate governance framework. 

Director Induction Process 
A formal induction process has been established by the Committee for newly appointed Directors that 
addresses the below key areas:

• Corporate governance framework and related policies
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• Company strategy
• Fiduciary duties and responsibilities
• Risk and compliance processes
• Internal control environment
• Operational practices and operating environment

Professional Development 
The Committee ensures that a director training schedule is maintained. The planned training sessions 
are based on requests received directly from Directors, requests made by the Chairman and training 
available on the market that addresses emerging and best practices to provide assurance to the Board 
that the ongoing professional development of Directors is being upheld.  

Succession Planning 
The Board with the assistance of the Committee, reviews and approves the succession plan regarding 
the appointments to the Board and to Senior Management positions. The succession plan has been 
implemented in order to ensure the appropriate balance of knowledge, skill and experience is 
maintained within the organisation and the Board.

Board Evaluation 
During the year under review, the Board performed an internal assessment to assess the overall Board 
and Individual Director effectiveness. The scope of the Board Evaluation consisted of the below areas:

• Enterprise purpose
• Performance Accountability
• Governance
• Sustainability 
• Development 
• Communication 

The outcome of the evaluation is provided to the Chairman of the Board in order to provide feedback 
to the Board as a whole and to the individual Directors a required. The Chairmans feedback is 
provided by the independent Chairman of the Committee.   

No areas of concern were highlighted as part of the above process.

Code of Ethics 
The Code of Ethics has been approved and endorsed by the Board as a document to live by. The Code 
of Ethics is reviewed as and when necessary but at least annually. The Committee further reviews the 
processes in place to ensure compliance with the Code of Ethics. 

Conflicts of Interest 
The conflicts of interest policy, requires all staff to declare any conflicts or potential conflicts of interest 
and seek approval prior to performing remunerative work outside of their contracts of employment. 
Both a Conflict-of-Interest Register and a Related Party Register are kept and monitored for all 
employees.

Whistle Blowing Process 
The whistle-blowing policy consists of responsible and effective procedures for disclosure or reporting 
of misconduct and impropriety so that appropriate actions are taken. It is intended to encourage 
employees and other relevant stakeholders to report unethical or illegal conduct of employees, 
management, and other stakeholders to appropriate parties in a confidential manner without any fear 
of harassment, intimidation, victimization or reprisal of any kind. The anonymous reporting form can 
be found through the Whistle blowing policy that is on the website of the Company and the reports 
made are received by an independent service provider.
 

Gifts and Entertainment Policy
The gifts and entertainment policy outlines employees’ and Director’s responsibilities to declare the 
providing or receiving of gifts and entertainment over a predetermined value of Rs1000 as set by the 
Board
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AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE (ARC)

Principal Function 
Assisting the Board to ensure the effectiveness of the internal financial controls and risk management 
system to achieve accurate and complete financial records and that significant risks are identified in a 
timely manner. 
 
Key Areas Focused on during the period and Reported to the Board

• Reviewed the Annual Report, including the Consolidated Audited Annual Financial Statements for the 
year ended 31 August 2023 together with the outcome of the independent external audit process to 
ensure compliance with financial reporting standards

• Reviewed the adequacy of the processes to support the annual budgeting process
• Reviewed the quarterly abridged unaudited financial statements for recommendation to the Board 

for approval prior to publication 
• Developed a related party transactions policy
• Reviewed all related party transactions to ensure compliance with the policy in place 
• Reviewed the quarterly risk reports to ensure effectiveness of the process and appropriateness of key 

controls and mitigations in place
• Reviewed the effectiveness of the processes in place to ensure compliance with statutory laws and 

regulations
• Reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control environment, including the risk management 

framework 
• Reviewed the gifts and conflicts of interest declarations received and supporting safeguards in place
• Reviewed the appropriateness of the procedures implemented to detect fraud  
• Recommended the re-appointment of the independent external auditors to the AGM
• Met with the external auditors during the planning and reporting stages of the audit
• Reviewed the processes in place to ensure that the IT related controls are adequately designed and 

implemented to provide assurance to the Committee that systems and data are securely safeguarded 
and that any related risks are mitigated by Management 

• Reviewed the safeguarding processes in place to ensure that all risks identified are sufficiently 
mitigated

• Reviewed the health and safety processes to ensure that all risks identified are sufficiently mitigated
• Monitored the progress made in regards to the implementation of a complete data protection 

program as facilitated by an external independent service provider and expert in this field  

Composition and attendance

MEMBERS                       TITLE                                                                       ATTENDANCE 
Mrs Alexis Botes 
Mrs Hema Cederhage* 
Mr John McIlraith 
REGULAR INVITEES: 
Mr Brett Childs
Mrs Phyllis Philogene 
Mr Preetam Raumoo 

8/8
2/8
6/8

7/8
8/8
8/8

Independent Non-Executive Director and Chairman 
Independent Non-Executive Director 
Executive Director 
       REGULAR INVITEES: 
Chairperson of the Board
Head of School
Group Finance Manager 

* Appointed to the Committee in May 2023
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KEY POLICY EXTRACTIONS
 
Internal Audit
In line with the annual plan, the Committee evaluated the need for an internal audit function. The 
evaluation included the following key areas:

• Size of the Company and complexity of the operations
• Effectiveness of the internal control environment and risk management processes
• Effectiveness of the corporate governance framework and level of oversight of the various Board and 

Management Committees

Based on the evaluation performed, the Committee recommended to the Board that no internal audit 
function be implemented. 

External Audit
UHY & Co have been the external Group auditors of the Company and subsidiaries for the last 4 years.   
The Board is aware that the external audit contract should be put out to tender at least every 10 years. 

The Committee monitors the effectiveness and the independence of the external auditors during the 
planning and reporting audit stages. The evaluation involves an assessment of the qualifications and 
performance of the auditors and their independence, objectivity and professional scepticism. To further 
ensure independency, the Committee approves any proposed non-audit services based on the value of 
the services compared to total audit fees.  

The fees (VAT exclusive) paid to the external auditors for the audit and other services were as follows: 

The Committee ensured that the external auditors had the option to meet with the Chairman of ARC 
without management being present. 

Related Party Transactions 
The Board defines related party transactions as deals, arrangements or balances between two parties who 
either have at least one common director or share at least one common ultimate beneficial owner. The 
related party transactions are reported to the Committee and the Board by the Group Finance Manager 
on a quarterly basis. 

All related party transactions are outlined in the audited Annual Financial Statements. 
The Board has further developed a Related Party Transaction Policy. This policy is reviewed by the 
Committee at a minimum on a yearly basis. 

Whistle Blowing Reports 
All whistle blowing reports are made available to the Chairperson of the Committee on a quarterly basis 
or as and when required to ensure that matters are addressed independently.

 
IT Policies
The Board, with the assistance of the Committee and external service providers are responsible to oversee 
information governance and ensures that the performance of the systems lead to business benefits and 
efficiencies. 

The Company has adopted various IT related policies, which are reviewed by the Committee on a yearly 
basis or more as required. 

The policies ensure the protection of all IT systems and applications to securely maintain the integrity of 
data.   

THE GROUP                                    THE COMPANY

Audit Services

Taxation and Consulting Services

393,375

33,600

2023                    2022                        2023                  2022 
 MUR                            MUR                                  MUR                           MUR

222,500

33,000

100,160

21,000

138,640

20,000
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External Service Providers
All external services are supported by service level agreements to ensure data security, continuity and data 
protection laws and regulations are maintained. 

IT Infrastructure 
The IT infrastructure investments are reviewed and monitored through the annual budgeting process. 

Data Protection 
Stringent measures are in place to secure and protect personal data, ensuring compliance with data 
protection laws and regulations. Continuous staff training and awareness programs further reinforce best 
practice in maintaining a secure learning and working environment. The School’s Data Protection has 
been implemented to enable access of individuals to their data, ensure data is held securely, document 
the school’s data protection procedures, and enhance accountability and transparency with respect to 
data protection and information security.

RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK
 
The Board, together with the independent oversight of ARC, have ensured a robust risk management 
system is in place that supports the risk tolerance and appetite of the Board.  

Regular assessments have been conducted to ensure the effectiveness and efficiency of the school’s 
control environment, identifying areas for enhancement, and streamlining processes to mitigate potential 
risks. 

The risk management policy is reviewed by ARC and approved by the Board on an annual basis and the 
key process elements can be seen below. 

Identified risks are evaluated by means of a 6-step approach as depicted below:

STEP 1:
IDENTIFY RISK

STEP 2:
RATE RISK

(LIKELIHOOD X MAGNITUDE)

STEP 3:
IDENTIFY MITIGATIONS 
CURRENTLY IN PLACE

STEP 4:
RE-RATE RISK CONSIDERING 

MITIGATIONS

(LIKELIHOOD X MAGNITUDE)

STEP 5:
CREATE ACTION PLAN 
TO FURTHER REDUCE 

RISK RATING

STEP 6:
IMPLEMENT ACTION PLAN 

AND MONITOR RISK UNTIL 
RISK IS FULLY MITIGATED



31

Risks are rated before and after controls using the below Board approved risk parameters. 

Magnitude 

Once the risks are rated, final risk ratings determine the risk category which in turn determines the 
suggested action and reporting requirements as depicted below. 

The risks identified by the Group are categorised into the following key categories: 
• Financial Risks
• Operational Risks 
• Reputational Risks 
• Strategic Risks 
• Legal Risks 
• Regulatory/Compliance Risks 
• Human Resource Risks 
• Information Technology Risks 
• External Risk 

MAGNITUDE CRITERIA RATING

Catastrophic
Disaster with potential to lead to collapse of business and are 
fundamental to the achievement of strategic objectives, and or with 
financial implications estimated to be more than Rs 10 000 000 

5

Critical
Critical events which can be endured but which may have a prolonged 
negative impact and extensive consequences, and or with financial 
implications estimated to be more than Rs 2 500 000

4

Serious
Major events, which can be managed but requires additional resources 
and management effort, and or with financial implications estimated to be 
more than Rs 500 000

3

Significant
Event which can be managed under normal operating conditions, and or 
with financial implications estimated to be more than Rs 100 000

2

Negligible
Not worth worrying about, and or with financial implications estimated to 
be less than Rs 100 000

1

     Likelihood

MAGNITUDE CRITERIA RATING

Almost Certain The event is expected to occur in most circumstances. 5

Likely The event will probably occur in most circumstances. 4

Moderate The event should occur at some time. 3

Unlikely The event could occur at some time. 2

Rare The event may occur only in exceptional circumstances. 1

FINAL 
RATING

RISK 
CATEGORY

SUGGESTED ACTION
REPORTING 

REQUIREMENTS 

10 - 25 High risk
Management should take immediate 
action to reduce the risk exposure to an 
acceptable level

Board and ARC

5 - 9 Medium risk
Management should constantly monitor 
the risk exposure and related control 
adequacy

Board and ARC

1 - 4 Low risk
Management should monitor risks and 
may consider reducing the cost of control

ARC
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The Board focused, amongst others, on the following key risks

Key risks (not in priority of importance)

CATEGORY DESCRIPTION INITIAL RATING KEY MITIGATIONS RESIDUAL RATING

Operational

The risk that students are not 
able to enrol for their first choice 
of IBDP subjects considering the 
minimum enrolment of students 
per subject requirement.

• Clear communication of strategies to students 
and parents well in advance 

• Counselling is provided to students on subject 
choices 

• Consultations with parents is provided on subject 
choices 

Operational
The risk associated with 
administering medication to 
students as needed.

• All requested administration of medication is 
supported by a written consent form and includes 
the frequency and dosages to be administered 

• Logs are kept of all medication administered 
• Expiry dates and labelling of medication is 

monitored and stored in a secured environment 
• The process is monitored by qualified nurses who 

are based at the school
• Students medical needs are fully catered for 

during school trips 

Operational

The risk of forced school closures 
due to environmental factors 
resulting in the loss of teaching 
and learning time

• A fully fledged online teaching program and 
weather day teaching plans are in place which 
can be set in motion immediately as required

Infrastructure

The risk that the schools’ 
infrastructures are not adequate to 
provide appropriate educational 
outcomes or does not meet the 
communities’ expectations

• Weekly ground check evaluations are performed 
in order to ensure the infrastructure meets the 
learning needs of the students 

• Comprehensive budget planning processes 
are in place that include facility requirements 
and asset development that are in line with 
admission projections 

• Securing procedures are in place to mitigate 
environmental impacts as required

• A dedicated health and safety officer is available 
to evaluate the infrastructure on a continuous 
basis to provide recommendations which are 
addressed in a timely manner 

• Closely monitoring by the Board to ensure 
expansion plans are addressed in line with the 
strategy 
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CATEGORY DESCRIPTION INITIAL RATING KEY MITIGATIONS RESIDUAL RATING

Financial
The risk that the financial 
performance does not support the 
schools’ strategic plans

• Independent oversight over the financial 
performance of the school

• Cash preservation 
• Detailed budgeting and foresting processes are in 

place
• Sound financial control environment
• Marketing plans
• World class education and supporting facilities to 

attract and retain students
• High caliber teaching and support staff

Operational/ 
Reputational

The risk that staff, students or 
visitors suffer injury, stress or 
trauma on the school’s premises 
or during school excursions

• Compliance with the health and safety 
requirements, both locally and internationally 

• Insurance covering in place 
• Risk management process to proactively identify 

threats 
• Safeguarding processes in place
• Safer recruitment policies in place 
• Workshops to promote awareness 
• Promotion of expectations which are rooted in the 

schools’ values
• Reference checks and mandatory morality 

certificate requirements
• Outside visitor protocols in place 
• Use of preferred suppliers after screen procedures 

are implemented

Operational

The risk of unauthorised access, 
misuse, modification, alteration, 
leaking of information including 
failing to comply with data 
protection laws and regulations

• Use of external expert service providers to 
perform assessments on the effectiveness of 
controls in place

• Appointed an independent data protection officer
• Compliance with data protection laws and 

regulations 
• Training sessions are held with staff members to 

ensure a strong human fire wall is in place 
• Disaster recovery processes are in place which 

include backup and restoration processes which 
are monitored independently 

• Controls in place against cyber-attacks including 
antivirus, firewalls, system access controls and 
audit trails
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CATEGORY DESCRIPTION INITIAL RATING KEY MITIGATIONS RESIDUAL RATING

Operational

The risk associated with 
staffing requirements, 
turnover and absenteeism 
resulting in the disruption 
of learning programs

• Recruitment policies and procedures are in place that 
includes international recruitment capabilities 

• Retention policies are in place 
• Performance appraisals are in place which is monitored 

independently 
• Staff remuneration is a key consideration during the budget 

process

Compliance
The risk of not complying 
with the required laws 
and regulators.

• Regulatory framework in place
• External service provider assessments
• Risk Management process
• Ongoing compliance monitoring internally and by Board 

Committees 

Operational
The risk associated with 
the merger of schools

• Engagement surveys are performed to guide improvement 
within and across sections

• The use of an independent expert consultant to guide the 
process 

• Performing a gap analysis to identify areas that require 
alignment 
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STAKEHOLDER RELATIONS 

The Board ensures that transparent and proactive stakeholder engagements take place in a proactive 
manner. Key mechanism used to promote stakeholder engagement can be seen below:

............................................................................        ............................................................................
Brett Childs   John McIlraith 

Executive Chairman  Executive Director 

DATE:

KEY 
STAKEHOLDERS

SHAREHOLDERS

COMMUNITY

EMPLOYEES

PARENTS AND 
STUDENTS 

REGULATORY 
AUTHORITIES 

FINANCIAL 
INSTITUTIONS 

SUPPLIERS

• AGM
• Board Meetings
• Quarterly publication of

abridged financial
statements

• Corporate Social
Responsibility Initiatives

• Environmental Initiatives
• Community Involvement
• Whistle Blowing

• Development and
Training

• PRC
• Departmental Meetings
• Adopt best practice

guidelines for employee
engagement

• Adopt best practice
• Compliance with

disclosure requirements
• Relationship development
• Compliance Framework
• Risk Management

Framework

• Compliance with
disclosure
requirement

• Open
Communication

• Relationship development
• Industry best practice

• Parent Body
• Student Representative Body
• Prefect Body
• Extra Curricula’s
• Parent Survey

VidouS
Typewritten Text
26 January 2024
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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE – YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(Section 75(3) of the Financial Reporting Act of 2004)

On behalf of the Board of Directors of NORTHFIELDS INTERNATIONAL SCHOOLS HOLDINGS LIMITED 
(the “Company”), we confirm that, to the best of our knowledge, the Company is complying with all of 
the obligations and requirements of the National Code of Corporate Governance of Mauritius (2016) (the 
“Code”).

............................................................................        ............................................................................
Brett Childs   John McIlraith 

Executive Chairman  Executive Director 

DATE:

VidouS
Typewritten Text
26 January 2024
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSABILITIES 
– YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Financial Statements in accordance 
with applicable laws and regulations. 

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) for each financial year, which present fairly the financial position, 
financial performance and cash flows of the Group and the Company.

The Directors confirm that, in preparing the financial statements, they have to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
• make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
• state that IFRS have been adhered to, subject to any material departures being disclosed and

explained in the financial statements;
• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis, unless it is inappropriate to presume

that the Group and the Company will continue in business; and
• ensure compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance (the ‘Code’) and provide reasons in case

of non-compliance with any requirements of the Code.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records, which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and Company and to enable them to ensure 
that the Financial Statements comply with the Companies Act 2001, IFRS and the Financial Reporting Act 
2004. 

They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps 
for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors hereby confirm that they have complied with the above requirements.

Approved by the Board of Directors on DATE and signed on its behalf by:

............................................................................        ............................................................................
Brett Childs   John McIlraith 

Executive Chairman  Executive Director 

DATE: 26 January 2024
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CERTIFICATE FROM THE COMPANY SECRETARY

CERTIFICATE FROM THE COMPANY SECRETARY 
– YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023

Pursuant to Section 166 (d) of the Companies Act 2001

We, Navitas Corporate Services Ltd, certify that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, the Company 
has filed with the Registrar of Companies all such returns as are required of the Company under the 
Companies Act 2001.

…………………………………………………………………
For and on behalf of 
Navitas Corporate Services Ltd 
Company Secretary

DATE:

VidouS
Typewritten Text
26 January 2024
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NORTHFIELDS INTERNATIONAL SCHOOLS HOLDINGS LIMITED 

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 

The Group The Company 
2023 2022 2023 2022 

Note Mur Mur Mur Mur 

Revenue 5 287,935,898  165,370,775 - 141,728,131
Cost of sales (4,692,506)  (5,398,823) - (5,353,301)
Gross profit 283,243,392  159,971,952 - 136,374,830
Other income 6 8,606,984  8,382,307 328,281,392 11,999,659
Total income 291,850,376  168,354,259 328,281,392 148,374,489 
Operating expenses 
Academic expenses (11,127,762)  (6,087,628) - (5,601,650)
Employee benefit expenses 7 (172,462,576) 104,767,019) - (90,207,131)

(183,590,338) (110,854,647) - (95,808,781)
Administrative expenses 8 (49,638,177) (29,701,002) (2,853,480) (26,760,543)
Total expenses (233,228,515) (140,555,649) (2,853,480) (122,569,324) 
Earnings before interest, 
tax, depreciation and 
amortisation (EBITDA) 58,621,861 27,798,610 325,427,912 25,805,165 
Depreciation and amortisation 
Depreciation (15,180,724)  (11,831,168) (9,146,741)  (10,810,109) 
Amortisation - (54,315) - (32,439)

(15,180,724)  (11,885,483) (9,146,741)  (10,842,548) 
Finance income 9 2,554,778 119,994 6,634,298 119,994 
Finance expenses 9 (14,181,375) (13,277,541) (14,181,375) (13,277,541) 
Net finance expenses (11,626,597) (13,157,547) (7,547,077) (13,157,547) 
Profit before taxation 31,814,540 2,755,580 308,734,094 1,805,070 
Taxation 10 (4,731,512) (615,307) (513,520) (613,307) 
Profit after taxation 27,083,028 2,140,273 308,220,574 1,191,763 
Other comprehensive 
income 
Items that will not be 
reclassified to profit or loss 
Revaluation of land and 
buildings 11 44,056,345 7,134,687 44,056,345 7,134,687 
Remeasurements of defined 
pension benefit 20 (3,830,000) (1,830,000) - (2,020,000)
Income tax relating to these 
items 10 (6,183,202) 738,953 (6,183,202) 738,953 

34,043,143 6,043,640 37,873,143 5,853,640 
Total comprehensive 
income for the year 61,126,171 8,183,913 346,093,717 7,045,403 

The notes on pages 48 to 81 form part of these financial statements. 
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NORTHFIELDS INTERNATIONAL SCHOOLS HOLDINGS LIMITED 

 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 31 AUGUST 2023 

 

  The Group  The Company 
  2023  2022  2023  2022 

 Note Mur  Mur  Mur  Mur 
         

ASSETS         
Non-current assets         
Property, plant and equipment 11 444,903,595  352,532,230  419,720,000  343,633,692 
Intangible assets 12 1,961,856  1,921,957  -  61,779 
Right-of-use asset 18 17,240,664  21,642,540  17,240,664  21,642,540 
Trade and other receivables 13 13,324,397  13,324,397  263,324,397  13,324,397 
Investment in subsidiaries 14 -  -  4,001,340  4,001,240 
Total non-current assets  477,430,512  389,421,124  704,286,401  382,663,648 

         
Current assets         
Trade and other receivables 13 49,725,321  65,964,244  1,815,189  17,184,418 
Inventories 15 7,232,536  2,917,462  -  2,917,462 
Cash and bank balances  192,277,661  148,205,883   127,318,228  134,888,869 
Total current assets  249,235,518  217,087,589   129,133,417  154,990,749 

         
Total assets  726,666,030  606,508,713  833,419,818  537,654,397 

         
EQUITIES AND LIABILITIES         
Equity         
Stated capital 16 44,791,000  44,791,000  44,791,000   44,791,000  
Revaluation reserves  177,029,355  140,162,367  177,029,355  140,162,367 
(Accumulated losses) / retained 
earnings  (50,654,463) 

 
(74,913,646) 

  
237,537,055 

  
 (71,689,674) 

Total equity  171,165,892  110,039,721  459,357,410   113,263,693  
         

Non-current liabilities         
Redeemable notes / debentures 17 250,000,000  250,000,000  250,000,000  250,000,000 
Obligation under leases 18 13,576,197  17,783,632  13,576,197  17,783,632 
Deferred taxation 10 10,048,109  3,351,387  10,048,109  3,351,387 
Trade and other payables 19 69,241,756  69,808,653  30,925,861  69,808,653 
Defined pension benefits 20 20,680,000  9,902,817  -  9,802,817 
Total non-current liabilities  363,546,062  350,846,489  304,550,167  350,746,489 

         
Current liabilities         
Obligation under leases 18 4,207,435  4,414,230  4,207,435  4,414,230 
Trade and other payables 19 183,092,199  140,771,823  64,868,356  68,793,535 
Current tax liability  4,654,442  436,450  436,450  436,450 
Total current liabilities  191,954,076  145,622,503  69,512,241  73,644,215 

         
Total liabilities  555,500,138  496,468,992   374,062,408  424,390,704 

         
Total equity and liabilities  726,666,030  606,508,713   833,419,818  537,654,397 
 

Approved by the Board of Directors on ……………………………………….. and signed on its behalf by: 
 
 
 
 

DIRECTOR   DIRECTOR 
 

The notes on pages 48 to 81 form part of these financial statements. 

VidouS
Typewritten Text
26 January 2024
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NORTHFIELDS INTERNATIONAL SCHOOLS HOLDINGS LIMITED 
 
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 

 Stated capital  Revaluation reserves  
(Accumulated losses) / 

retained earnings  Total 

 
The 

Group 
The 

Company  
The  

Group 
The 

Company  
The  

Group 
The 

Company  
The  

Group 
The 

Company 

 Mur Mur  Mur Mur  Mur Mur  Mur Mur 

            
Balance at 01 September 2021 44,791,000 44,791,000  133,932,080 133,932,080  (76,867,272) (72,504,790)  101,855,808 106,218,290 
Total comprehensive income for 
the year - -  7,629,687 7,629,687  554,226 (584,284)  8,183,913 7,045,403 
Transfer to (accumulated losses) / 
retained earnings - -  (1,399,400) (1,399,400)  1,399,400 1,399,400  - - 
Balance at 31 August 2022 44,791,000 44,791,000  140,162,367 140,162,367  (74,913,646) (71,689,674)  110,039,721 113,263,693 

            
Balance at 01 September 2022 44,791,000 44,791,000  140,162,367 140,162,367  (74,913,646) (71,689,674)  110,039,721 113,263,693 
Total comprehensive income for 
the year - -  37,873,143 37,873,143  23,253,028 308,220,574  61,126,171 346,093,717 
Transfer to (accumulated losses) / 
retained earnings - -  (1,006,155) (1,006,155)  1,006,155 1,006,155  - - 
Balance at 31 August 2023 44,791,000 44,791,000  177,029,355 177,029,355  (50,654,463) 237,537,055  171,165,892 459,357,410 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on pages 48 to 81 form part of these financial statements. 
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NORTHFIELDS INTERNATIONAL SCHOOLS HOLDINGS LIMITED 
 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 

 

 The Group  The Company 

 2023  2022  2023  2022 

 Mur  Mur  Mur  Mur 
        

Cash flows from operating activities        
Profit for the year before taxation 31,814,540  2,755,580  308,734,094  1,805,070 
Adjustments for:        
Depreciation of property, plant  
and equipment 10,755,497  11,464,345  4,744,865  10,443,286 
Depreciation of right-of-use-asset 4,401,876  366,823  4,401,876  366,823 
Amortisation of intangible assets 23,351  54,315  -  32,439 
Interest expenses 14,181,375  13,277,541  14,181,375  13,277,541 
Movement in defined pension benefits 6,947,183  1,020,857  -  985,000 
Profit on disposal of business -  -  (313,214,726)  - 
Loss on disposal of property, plant  
and equipment -  26,573  -  26,573 
Operating profit before working 
capital changes 68,123,822  28,966,034  18,847,484  26,936,732 
Movement in inventories (4,315,074)  454,191  (850,094)  408,669 
Movement in trade and 
other receivables 16,238,921  (53,118,640)  56,714,583  (501,978) 
Movement in trade and other payables 41,753,481  83,606,754  (14,301,445)  24,917,631 

 121,801,150  59,908,339  60,410,528  51,761,054 
Tax paid -  (1,169,635)  -  (635,739) 
Net cash generated from operating 
activities 121,801,150  58,738,704  60,410,527  51,125,315 
        
Cash flows from investing activities        
Purchase of property, plant  
and equipment (59,070,517)  (30,287,487)  (49,385,464)  (22,157,118) 
Purchase of intangible assets (63,250)  (62,100)  -  (62,100) 
Acquisition of subsidiary -  -  (100)  - 
Net cash used in investing activities (59,133,767)  (30,349,587)  (49,385,564)  (22,219,218) 
        
Cash flows from financing activities        
Proceeds from issue of notes / 
debentures -  44,000,000  -  44,000,000 
Interest paid (14,181,375)  (13,089,042)  (14,181,375)  (13,089,042) 
Payment of lease liabilities (4,414,230)  -  (4,414,230)  - 
Net cash (used in) / generated from 
financing activities (18,595,605)  30,910,958  (18,595,605)  30,910,958 
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NORTHFIELDS INTERNATIONAL SCHOOLS HOLDINGS LIMITED 
 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 (CONTINUED) 

 
 The Group  The Company 
 2023  2022  2023  2022 
 Mur  Mur  Mur  Mur 
        
Movement in cash and cash equivalents 44,071,778  59,300,075  (7,570,641)  59,817,055 
Cash and cash equivalents at  
01 September 148,205,883  88,905,808  134,888,869  75,071,814 
Cash and cash equivalents at  
31 August 

 
192,277,661  148,205,883  127,318,228  134,888,869 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of:        
Cash at bank 192,277,661  148,205,883  127,318,228  134,888,869 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on pages 48 to 81 form part of these financial statements. 
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NORTHFIELDS INTERNATIONAL SCHOOLS HOLDINGS LIMITED 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
1. INCORPORATION 

 
Northfields International Schools Holdings Limited (the "Company") is a public company incorporated on 
14 January 2002 under the Companies Act 2001 and domiciled in Mauritius. Its registered office address and 
principal place of business are at Navitas House, Robinson Road, Floréal and Labourdonnais, Mapou 
respectively. 
 
2. PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY 

 
The principal activity of the Company is to own and run an educational establishment through its 
subsidiaries.   For that purpose, it may exercise all such powers, do all such other things, including the 
acquisition of immovable properties, as and when necessary or incidental for the conduct, promotion or 
attainment of the objects of the Company to the extent not prohibited by law. 
 
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Basis of preparation 
 
The financial statements of the Group and the Company comply with the Companies Act 2001 and have 
been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ('IFRS“). The financial 
statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for the following: 
 
• certain classes of property, plant and equipment – measured at fair value; and 
• defined benefit pension plans – measured at present value. 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the 
Group’s and the Company's accounting policies.  Estimates and judgements are continuously evaluated and 
are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed 
to be reasonable under the circumstances. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, 
or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are the determination 
of fair values as disclosed in Note 4. 
 
Standards, amendments and Interpretations to published Standards effective during the current period  
 
The directors have assessed the relevance of Standards, Interpretations and amendments to existing 
Standards that have been published and are mandatory for the financial year beginning on                                      
01 September 2022 and have concluded that they have no impact on the financial statements for the year 
ended 31 August 2023. 
 
Standards, Amendments to published Standards and Interpretations issued but not yet effective 
 
The following Standards and Interpretations, which were in issue, are relevant to the Group. The directors 
have not early adopted these Standards and Interpretations and are yet to assess the impact of their adoption 
on the financial statements of the Group. 
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NORTHFIELDS INTERNATIONAL SCHOOLS HOLDINGS LIMITED 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Standards, Amendments to published Standards and Interpretations issued but not yet effective (continued) 
 
Classification of liabilities as current or non-current – amendments to IAS 1 (effective 01 January 2023) 
 
The narrow-scope amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements clarify that liabilities are 
classified as either current or non-current, depending on the rights that exist at the end of the reporting 
period. Classification is unaffected by the entity’s expectations or events after the reporting date (e.g. the 
receipt of a waiver or a breach of covenant). The amendments also clarify what IAS 1 means when it refers 
to the ‘settlement’ of a liability. 
 
The amendments could affect the classification of liabilities, particularly for entities that previously 
considered management’s intentions to determine classification and for some liabilities that can be 
converted into equity. 
 
They must be applied retrospectively in accordance with the normal requirements in IAS 8 Accounting 
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. 
 
Disclosure of accounting policies – amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2                                    
(effective 01 January 2023) 
 
The IASB amended IAS 1 to require entities to disclose their material rather than their significant accounting 
policies. The amendments define what ‘material accounting policy information’ is and explain how to 
identify when accounting policy information is material. They further clarify that immaterial accounting 
policy information does not need to be disclosed. If it is disclosed, it should not obscure material accounting 
information. 
 
To support this amendment, the IASB also amended IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements 
to provide guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy disclosures. 
 
Definition of accounting estimates – amendments to IAS 8 (effective 01 January 2023) 
 
The amendment to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors clarifies how the 
Group should distinguish changes in accounting policies from changes in accounting estimates. The 
distinction is important, because changes in accounting estimates are applied prospectively to future 
transactions and other future events, but changes in accounting policies are generally applied 
retrospectively to past transactions and other past events as well as the current period. 
 
Sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture – amendments to IFRS 
10 and IAS 28 
 
The IASB has made limited scope amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. 
 
The amendments clarify the accounting treatment for sales or contribution of assets between an investor and 
their associates or joint ventures. They confirm that the accounting treatment depends on whether the non-
monetary assets sold or contributed to an associate or joint venture constitute a ‘business’ (as defined in 
IFRS 3 Business Combinations). 
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NORTHFIELDS INTERNATIONAL SCHOOLS HOLDINGS LIMITED 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Standards, Amendments to published Standards and Interpretations issued but not yet effective (continued) 
 
Sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture – amendments to IFRS 
10 and IAS 28 (continued) 
 
Where the non-monetary assets constitute a business, the investor will recognise the full gain or loss on the 
sale or contribution of assets. If the assets do not meet the definition of a business, the gain or loss is 
recognised by the investor only to the extent of the other investor’s interests in the associate or joint venture. 
The amendments apply prospectively. 
 
In December 2015, the IASB decided to defer the application date of this amendment until such time as the 
IASB has finalised its research project on the equity method. 
 
Principles of consolidation  
 
Subsidiaries 
 
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group 
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with 
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. 
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are 
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. 
 
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are 
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment 
of the transferred asset. The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to 
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 
 
Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in profit or loss, 
statement of changes in equity and statement of financial position respectively. 
 
Investment in subsidiaries is stated at cost less provision for impairment in the financial statements of the 
Company. 
 
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries are shown in Note 14 
 
Foreign currency translation 
 
(i) Functional and presentation currency 
 
Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”).  The financial statements are presented 
in Mauritian Rupee (“Mur”), which is the Company’s and the Group’s functional and presentation currency. 
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NORTHFIELDS INTERNATIONAL SCHOOLS HOLDINGS LIMITED 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Foreign currency translation (continued) 
 
(ii) Transactions and balances 
 
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at the rates of 
exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions.  Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss. 

 
Financial assets 
 
(i) Classification 
 
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories: 
 
• those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through OCI or through profit or loss); and 
• those to be measured at amortised cost. 
 
The classification depends on the Group’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual 
terms of the cash flows. 
 
In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through OCI, it needs 
to give rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal amount 
outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level. 
 
The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order 
to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting 
contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.  
 
At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset 
not at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition 
of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss. 
 

(ii) Subsequent measurement  
 

The Group classifies its debt instruments as follows: 
 

Financial assets at amortised cost 
 
Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments 
of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial assets is included 
in finance income using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is 
recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in other gains / (losses) together with foreign exchange gains 
and losses. Impairment losses are presented as separate line item in profit or loss. 
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NORTHFIELDS INTERNATIONAL SCHOOLS HOLDINGS LIMITED 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

Financial assets (continued) 
 
(ii) Subsequent measurement (continued) 
 
Trade receivables and other financial assets 
 
Trade receivables and other financial assets are held to collect contractual cash flows and give rise to cash flows 
representing solely payments of principal and interest. These are classified and measured as debt instruments 
at amortised cost. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents  
 
For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, 
deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments with original 
maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject 
to an insignificant risk of changes in value. The Group’s cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and 
bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown separately on the face of the statement of financial position. 
 
(iii) Expected credit losses  
 
The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses (ECLs) associated with its debt 
instruments carried at amortised cost. 
 
The financial assets of the Group that are subject to the expected credit loss model are trade and other 
receivables, amount due from related parties and cash and cash equivalents. 
 
ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.  ECLs are based on the difference between the 
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to 
receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from 
the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms. 
 
For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, 
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the next 12-months 
(a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since 
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, 
irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL). Credit-impaired financial assets are those for which 
one or more events that have a detrimental effect on the estimated future cash flows have already occurred. 
These financial assets would be in Stage 3 and lifetime expected losses would be recognised. 
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NORTHFIELDS INTERNATIONAL SCHOOLS HOLDINGS LIMITED 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Financial liabilities 
 
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss, loans and borrowings and payables, as appropriate. 
 
All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and 
payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.  They are subsequently carried at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method. 
 
The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, redeemable debentures and obligation 
under leases. 
 
Derecognition of financial liabilities 
 
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or 
expires. When an existing liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different 
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is 
treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference 
in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Offsetting financial instruments 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position 
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle 
on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 
Intangible assets 

 
Intangible assets (computer software) are initially recorded at cost and amortised using the straight-line 
method over 4 years. 
 
Goodwill 
 
Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an asset at cost as established at the date that 
control is acquired (the acquisition date) less any accumulated impairment losses, if any. Goodwill is 
measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree 
(if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities 
assumed. 
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NORTHFIELDS INTERNATIONAL SCHOOLS HOLDINGS LIMITED 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Goodwill (continued) 
 
Goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. For the purpose of impairment 
testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units expected to benefit from the 
synergies of the combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for 
impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is 
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other 
assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss 
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period. 
 
On disposal of a subsidiary, the related amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or 
loss on disposal. 
 
Property, plant and equipment  
 
Land and buildings are stated at their revalued amount, based on periodic valuations by external 
independent valuers, less subsequent depreciation for buildings and impairment losses recognised after 
the date of valuation. All other property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less 
depreciation and impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to 
the acquisition of the items. 
 
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of assets over their expected useful lives using the straight-
line method to their residual values.  The annual rates of depreciation used are: 
 
 Buildings 50 years 
 Ground equipment 10 years 
 Computer equipment  4 years 
 Furniture and fittings 5 years 
 Office and laboratory equipment 5 years 
 Books 3 years 
 Motor vehicles 4 years 
 
Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written 
down immediately to its recoverable amount. 
 
Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are 
included in operating profit. 
 
Repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which they are 
incurred. The cost of major renovations is included in the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable 
that future economic benefits in excess of the originally assessed standard of performance of the existing 
asset will flow to the Group. Major renovations are depreciated over the useful life of the related asset.  
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NORTHFIELDS INTERNATIONAL SCHOOLS HOLDINGS LIMITED 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Borrowings 

 
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) 
and the redemption amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the 
effective interest method. 
 
Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent 
that it is probable that some or all of the facilities will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until 
the draw down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facilities 
will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the 
period of the facility to which it relates. 
 
Borrowings are removed from the statement of financial position when the obligation specified in the 
contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial 
liability that has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including 
any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as other income or 
finance costs. 
 
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. 
 
Leases 
 
The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is or contains 
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in 
exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified 
asset, the Group uses the definition of a lease in IFRS 16. 
 
The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases 
and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-
use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets. 
 
(i) Right-of-use asset 
 
The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the date at which the underlying assets are available for use. 
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and 
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes: 
 
• the amount of lease liabilities recognised; 
• initial direct costs incurred; and  
• lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received.  
 
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the 
estimated useful lives of the assets. Rental of the premises is depreciated over 5 years. 
 
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the 
exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.   
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NORTHFIELDS INTERNATIONAL SCHOOLS HOLDINGS LIMITED 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Leases (continued) 
 
(ii) Lease liabilities 
 
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily 
determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Group uses its incremental borrowing 
rate as the discount rate. The Group determines its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates 
from various external financing sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and 
type of the asset leased. 
 
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liabilities comprise the following: 
 
• fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;  
• variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate 

as at the commencement date;  
• amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and  
• the exercise price under a purchase option that the Group is reasonably certain to exercise, lease 

payments in an optional renewal period if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise an extension 
option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Group is reasonably certain not to 
terminate early. 

 
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses (unless they 
are incurred to produce inventories) in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment 
occurs. 
 
After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest 
and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured 
if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future 
payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change 
in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset. The Group’s lease liabilities are shown 
separately on the face of the statement of financial position. 
 
Employee benefits 
 
(i) Defined contribution plans 
 
The Group operates a defined contribution plan under which it pays a fixed contribution to the 
administrators of the plan, Swan Pension Limited. The Group has no further payment obligations once the 
contributions have been paid.  The contributions are recognised as employee benefit expenses when they 
are due.  Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in 
future payments is available. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Employee benefits (continued) 
 
(ii) Gratuity on retirement 
 
For employees who are not covered or who are insufficiently covered by the above pension plan, the net 
present value of gratuity on retirement payable under the Workers’ Rights Act 2019 is calculated and 
provided for. The obligations arising under this item are not funded. 
 
Inventories 
 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs, including an appropriate portion 
of fixed and variable overhead expenses, are assigned to inventories on a weighted average cost basis. Net 
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of 
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 
 
Stated capital 
 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 
 
Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a constructive obligation as a result of past events, which it 
is probable will result in an outflow of economic benefit that can be reasonably estimated. 
 
Expenses recognition 
 
Expenses are accounted for in profit or loss on an accrual basis. 
 
Revenue recognition 
 
School fees 
 
Revenue from school fees and other related income are recognised over time. Fees which relate to academic 
terms or parts thereof occurring after 31 August are recorded as deferred revenue. 
 
Sale of goods  
 
Sales of goods are recognised at a point in time when the goods have been supplied or the terms of the 
contract have been satisfied. 
 
Interest income 
 
Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using the effective interest method. 
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NORTHFIELDS INTERNATIONAL SCHOOLS HOLDINGS LIMITED 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Current and deferred income tax  
 
The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred income tax.  Current tax is the expected tax 
payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting 
date and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of prior years. 
 
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which 
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis 
of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities. 

 
Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the 
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.  Deferred income 
tax is determined using tax rates that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting 
period and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred 
income tax liability is settled. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax 
assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either 
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise 
those temporary differences and losses. 
 
Current and deferred taxes are recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that they relate to items 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. 
 
4. DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES 
 
A number of the accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both 
financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and/ or 
disclosure purpose based on the following methods. When applicable further information about the 
assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability. 
 
(i) Land and buildings 
 
The market value of land and buildings is the estimated amount at which a property could be exchanged on 
the date of valuation between a willing buyer and willing seller in an arm's length transaction after proper 
marketing wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion. The 
market value of land is based on the quoted market prices for similar item. 
 
(ii) Trade and other receivables 
 
The fair value of trade and other receivables is estimated as the present value of future cash flows discounted at 
the market rate of interest at the end of reporting period. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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5. REVENUE

The Group The Company 
2023 2022 2023 2022 
Mur Mur Mur Mur 

Over time 
Fees - school 264,472,610  148,329,754 - 127,081,163
Fees book subscription - 2,816,762 - 2,816,762
Subscription and inception fees 16,267,586 8,024,682 - 5,630,629

280,740,196 159,171,198 - 135,528,554

4,342,263  6,199,577 - 6,199,577
At a point in time 
Uniform sales 
Canteen sales 2,853,439 - - - 

287,935,898  165,370,775 - 141,728,131

6. OTHER INCOME

The Group   The Company 
2023 2022 2023 2022 
Mur Mur Mur Mur 

Canteen income - 3,569,533 - 3,569,533
Income from other activities 8,600,387 4,629,312 13,690,775 4,409,577
Profit on disposal of plant and 
equipment 6,597  - -  -   
Profit on disposal of business 
(Note 25) - 313,214,726 
Management fees - - 1,375,891  3,837,087 
Bad debts recovered - 183,462 - 183,462

8,606,984  8,382,307 328,281,392  11,999,659 

7. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES

The Group The Company 
2023 2022 2023 2022 
Mur Mur Mur Mur 

Salaries and wages 133,920,344  83,346,482 - 73,174,710
Contribution to pension fund 3,608,443  1,565,398 - 1,270,418
Pension costs 1,825,278  844,000 - 985,000
Social security costs 13,493,707  8,319,308 - 6,047,218
Transport allowances 13,247,013  6,843,226 - 5,797,972
Other related costs 6,367,791  3,848,605 - 2,931,813

172,462,576  104,767,019 - 90,207,131

The Company did not have any employee at the end of the reporting date following a business restructuring 
exercise during the year. 
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NORTHFIELDS INTERNATIONAL SCHOOLS HOLDINGS LIMITED 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
8. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 
 

 The Group  The Company 

 
2023  2022  2023  2022 
Mur  Mur  Mur  Mur 

        
Advertising and promotions 322,529   4,405,483   6,375   4,324,643  
Telephone, fax and internet 1,092,874   717,181   -   657,406  
Electricity and water 3,244,487   1,472,154   -   1,333,159  
Repairs and maintenance 11,128,329   4,245,930   2,352,208   3,726,714  
Security services 657,215   560,539   -   555,278  
Insurance 1,264,483   704,025   -   628,642  
Office and general expenses 9,747,616   934,688   -   748,324  
Computer expenses 2,418,397   462,149   -   282,221  
Postage, printing and stationery 3,733,234   916,014   4,570   766,992  
Entertainment 45,714   744,153   -   699,167  
Bank charges 296,001   151,654   4,778   116,210  
Professional fees 9,696,374   10,167,877   471,019   9,593,121  
Canteen -   1,947,634   -   1,947,634  
Gifts and donation 1,929,400   158,560   -   150,186  
Overseas travel 1,292,082   54,724   -   54,724  
Rental charges 1,590,821   1,387,249   -   661,483  
Licence fees 656,474   130,740   14,530   34,530  
Loss on disposal of property, 
plant and equipment 

 
-  

 
26,573   

 
-  

 
26,573  

Commission -   213,300   -   213,300  
Motor vehicles repairs and 
road taxes 

 
213,636  

 
190,657   

 
-  

 
181,057  

Medical expenses 264,926   51,718   -   34,179  
Bad debts 43,585   58,000   -   25,000  

 49,638,177   29,701,002   2,853,480   26,760,543  
 
9. FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSES 
 
 The Group  The Company 

 
2023  2022  2023  2022 
Mur  Mur  Mur  Mur 

Finance income        
Interest income 2,554,778  119,994  6,634,298  119,994 
        
Finance expenses        
Interest on lease (1,002,436)  (188,499)  (1,002,436)  (188,499) 
Loan notes / debentures (13,178,939)  (13,089,042)  (13,178,939)  (13,089,042) 

 (14,181,375)  (13,277,541)  (14,181,375)  (13,277,541) 

        
Net finance expenses (11,626,597)  (13,157,547)  (7,547,077)  (13,157,547) 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 

 
10. TAXATION 
 
Current income tax 
 
Under applicable laws, the Company is liable to income tax on its chargeable income in Mauritius at 15%. 
At 31 August 2023, the Company had accumulated tax losses of Mur 32,455,650 (2022 - Mur 6,493,725) and 
is therefore not liable to income tax.  The tax losses are available for offset against future taxable profits of 
the Company as follows: 
 

    2023  2022 
Up to the financial year ending    Mur  Mur 
       
31 August 2024    3,711,661  3,711,661 
31 August 2025    2,782,064  2,782,064 
31 August 2026    25,961,925  - 

    32,455,650  6,493,725 
 
Tax expense  
 

   The Company 

    2023  2022 
    Mur  Mur 

       
Deferred tax movement    (513,520)  (176,857) 
Covid – 19 levy payable    -  (436,450) 
Income tax charge    (513,520)  (613,307) 
 
Deferred income tax 
 

  
The Group and  
the Company 

  2023  2022 
  Mur  Mur 

    
 

At 01 September  (3,351,387)  (3,913,483) 
Amount recognised in:     
Profit or loss  (513,520)  (176,857) 
Other comprehensive income  (6,183,202)  738,953 
At 31 August  (10,048,109)  (3,351,387) 
 
Deferred tax is analysed as follows: 
 
Accelerated capital allowances  5,451,632  7,592,872 
Impact of IFRS 16  81,445  - 
Revaluation reserve  (20,449,534)  (13,347,052) 
Tax losses  4,868,348  974,059 
Provision for bad debts  -  17,359 
Defined pension benefits  -  1,411,375 
At 31 August  (10,048,109)  (3,351,387) 
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NORTHFIELDS INTERNATIONAL SCHOOLS HOLDINGS LIMITED 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 

 The Group 

  Land  Buildings  
Ground 

equipment  
Computer 

equipment  

Furniture 
and 

fittings  
Office 

equipment  
Laboratory 
equipment  Books  

Motor 
vehicles  Total 

 Mur  Mur  Mur  Mur  Mur  Mur  Mur  Mur  Mur  Mur 
Cost / revaluation                    
At 01 September 2022 79,800,000  251,324,057  9,636,858  15,811,523  27,958,820  9,236,983  676,810  20,896,480  1,345,003  416,686,534 
Additions  -  49,515,609  334,200  3,417,993  3,336,471  645,864  -  1,820,380  -  59,070,517 
Disposals -  -  -  (7,050)  -  -  -  -  -  (7,050) 
Revaluation 
adjustments 3,330,000  35,981,480  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  39,311,480 
At 31 August 2023 83,130,000  336,821,146  9,971,058  19,222,466  31,295,291  9,882,847  676,810  22,716,860  1,345,003  515,061,481 

                    
Depreciation                    
At 01 September 2022 -  3,852  5,694,140  11,938,438  20,692,414  6,690,763  646,097  17,152,246  1,336,354  64,154,304 
Charge for the year -  4,748,843  453,373  1,414,333  1,873,895  649,052  6,143  1,601,212  8,646  10,755,497 
Disposals -  -  -  (7,050)  -  -  -  -  -  (7,050) 
Revaluation 
adjustments  -  (4,744,865)  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (4,744,865) 
At 31 August 2023 -  7,830  6,147,513  13,345,721  22,566,309  7,339,815  652,240  18,753,458  1,345,000  70,157,886 

                    
Net book value                    
At 31 August 2023 83,130,000  336,813,316  3,823,545  5,876,745  8,728,982  2,543,032  24,570  3,963,402  3  444,903,595 
                    
At 31 August 2022 79,800,000  251,320,205  3,942,718  3,873,085  7,266,406  2,546,220  30,713  3,744,234  8,649  352,532,230 
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NORTHFIELDS INTERNATIONAL SCHOOLS HOLDINGS LIMITED 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

 The Company 

 Land  Buildings  
Ground 

equipment  
Computer 

equipment  

Furniture 
and 

fittings  
Office 

equipment  
Laboratory 
equipment  Books  

Motor 
vehicles  Total 

 Mur  Mur  Mur  Mur  Mur  Mur  Mur  Mur  Mur  Mur 
Cost / revaluation                    
At 01 September 
2022 79,800,000  251,223,056  8,956,883  13,807,327  20,874,244  8,498,683  676,810  19,686,625  1,345,002  404,868,630 
Additions -  49,385,464  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  49,385,464 
Transfer to 
subsidiaries  -  -  (8,956,883)  (13,807,327)  (20,874,244)  (8,498,683)  (676,810)  (19,686,625)  (1,345,002)  (73,845,574) 
Revaluation 
adjustments 3,330,000  35,981,480  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  39,311,480 
At 31 August 2023 83,130,000  336,590,000  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  419,720,000 

                    
Depreciation                    
At 01 September 
2022 -  -  5,379,601  11,689,647  19,677,464  6,352,703  646,097  16,153,071  1,336,355  61,234,938 
Charge for the year -  4,744,865  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  4,744,865 
Transfer to 
subsidiaries  -  -  (5,379,601)  (11,689,647)  (19,677,647)  (6,352,703)  (646,097)  (16,153,071)  (1,336,355)  (61,234,938) 
Revaluation 
adjustments -  (4,744,865)  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (4,744,865) 
At 31 August 2023 -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

                    
Net book value                    
At 31 August 2023 83,130,000  336,590,000  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  419,720,000 

                    
At 31 August 2022 79,800,000  251,223,056  3,577,282  2,117,680  1,196,780  2,145,980  30,713  3,533,554  8,647  343,633,692 
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NORTHFIELDS INTERNATIONAL SCHOOLS HOLDINGS LIMITED 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
Details of land and buildings and information about the fair value hierarchy are as follows: 
 
 The Group          The Company 
Level 2 fair value 2023  2022  2023  2022 

 Mur  Mur  Mur  Mur 
        

Land 83,130,000  79,800,000  83,130,000  79,800,000 
Buildings 336,813,316   251,324,057   336,590,000  251,223,056  

 419,943,316  331,124,057  419,720,000  331,023,056 
 

The land and buildings are periodically valued based on market value by independent valuer. The land and 
buildings were revalued by Mr S. Moorghen of PrimePillar Valuation Services Ltd, an independent 
Chartered Surveyor, on 07 September 2023 on the basis of the general principles applicable to the valuation 
of Company's assets. The valuation in excess of the net book value has been credited to the revaluation 
reserve. 
 

If the buildings were stated on historical cost basis, the amount would have been as follows: 
 

 The Group  The Company 
 2023  2022  2023  2022 

 Mur  Mur  Mur  Mur 
        

Cost 160,809,413  160,809,413  160,809,413   160,809,413  
Accumulated depreciation (33,483,842)  (31,152,150)  (33,483,842)  (31,152,150) 
Net book value 127,325,571   129,657,263   127,325,571   129,657,263  
 

12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 

 The Group  
The 

Company 
 Goodwill  Software  Total  Software 
 Mur  Mur  Mur  Mur 
Cost        
At 01 September 2022 1,969,590  2,489,560  4,459,150  2,489,560 
Transfer to subsidiaries -  -  -  (2,489,560) 
Additions -  63,250  63,250  - 
At 31 August 2023 1,969,590  2,552,810  4,522,400  - 
        
Depreciation        
At 01 September 2022 109,412 

 
2,427,781 

 
2,537,193 

 
2,427,781 

Transfer to subsidiaries -  -  -  (2,427,781) 
Charge for the year -  23,351  23,351  - 
At 31 August 2023 109,412  2,451,132  2,560,544  - 
        
Net book value        
At 31 August 2023 1,860,178  101,678  1,961,856  - 
        
At 31 August 2022 1,860,178 

 
61,779 

 
1,921,957 

 
61,779 
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NORTHFIELDS INTERNATIONAL SCHOOLS HOLDINGS LIMITED 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
13. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

 
   The Group              The Company 

 2023  2022  2023  2022 
 Mur  Mur  Mur  Mur 
Non-current         
Loan receivables* 13,324,397  13,324,397  263,324,397  13,324,397 
Current        

 

Loans to related parties** -   -   1,000   1,258,277  
Trade receivables 7,208,151   18,367,681   1,419,641   10,445,728  
Other receivables 42,517,170   47,596,563   394,548   5,480,413  

 49,725,321   65,964,244   1,815,189   17,184,418  
 
*Loan receivable 
 
Loan receivables are unsecured, bear interest rate of 5.25% and 8% per annum and are receivable by                   
31 August 2026.  
 
**Loans to related parties 
 
Loans to related parties are unsecured, bear no interest and have no repayment period. 
 
14. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES 
 

       The Company 
 2023  2022 

 Mur  Mur 
Non-current assets    
100% Equity share in Northfields International Nursery and 
Junior School Ltd 1,000  1,000 
100% Equity share in Northfields International High School Limited  240  240 
100% Equity share in Northfields International Nursery & 
Primary School Ltd 4,000,000  4,000,000 
100% Equity share in Northfields Retail Company Limited 100  - 

 4,001,340  4,001,240 
 
15. INVENTORIES 
 

        The Group       The Company 
 2023  2022  2023  2022 

 Mur  Mur  Mur  Mur 
        

Canteen materials 134,156   134,156   -   134,156  
School materials 7,098,380   2,783,306   -   2,783,306  

 7,232,536   2,917,462   -   2,917,462  
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NORTHFIELDS INTERNATIONAL SCHOOLS HOLDINGS LIMITED 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
16. EQUITY 
 
Stated capital 
 
 The Group  The Company 
 2023  2022  2023  2022 
 Mur  Mur  Mur  Mur 
Issues and fully paid        
Initial shares 800,000  800,000  800,000  800,000 
Full founding shares 3,575,000  3,575,000  3,575,000  3,575,000 
Founding shares 2,450,000  2,450,000  2,450,000  2,450,000 
Corporate shares 2,200,000  2,200,000  2,200,000  2,200,000 
Business founding shares 200,000  200,000  200,000  200,000 
Participating primary shares 250,000  250,000  250,000  250,000 
Commercial shares 34,806,000  34,806,000  34,806,000  34,806,000 

 44,281,000  44,281,000  44,281,000  44,281,000 
Issued and partly paid        
Full founding shares 150,000  150,000  150,000  150,000 
Founding shares 360,000  360,000  360,000  360,000 
 44,791,000  44,791,000  44,791,000  44,791,000 
 
The Company has the following classes of shares in issue and the following main rights are attached to each 
share: 
 
Commercial Shares 
 
(a) The Commercial Shares confer upon the holders thereof a right to vote at any meeting of the 

Company with each Commercial share entitled to one vote. 
 
(b) There is no restriction on the number of Commercial Shares that can be held either individually or 
 by a body corporate. 
 
(c) The Commercial Shares may at any time only be held by such person or body corporate as may be 

approved from time to time by the Board of Directors. 
 

(d) The Commercial Shares do not confer upon its holder the right to have his/her child(ren) (in the case 
of individual holder) or the child(ren) of his/her employees (in the case of body corporate holders) 
admitted to the school. In the event the holder of a Commercial Share decides to dispose of his/her 
Commercial Share ("the transferor“), the voting right of the Commercial Share and the right to 
dividend attached to that Commercial Share shall be transferred from the transferor to the person/ 
body corporate acquiring the share ("the transferee"). 
 

(e) The holder of Commercial Share(s) is by virtue of this Constitution entitled to hold any other class 
of shares i.e. Initial Shares, Full Founding Shares, Founding Shares, Corporate Shares, Participating 
Primary Shares and Business Founding Shares. 

 
(f) Holders of Commercial Shares will be entitled to dividends as and when the Board of Directors 

considers fit. The terms for declaration and payment of dividend are laid out in Article 13 of the 
Company’s Constitution. 
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NORTHFIELDS INTERNATIONAL SCHOOLS HOLDINGS LIMITED 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
16. EQUITY (CONTINUED) 
 
Commercial Shares (continued) 
 
(g) Where the holder of a Commercial Share acquires any other class of share, which by virtue of his 

Constitution he/ she is entitled to hold, the rights attached to both the Commercial Shares and that 
other class of share acquired shall continue to be in force. However, in the event that a Commercial 
Shareholder acquires more than one class or share in addition to his existing Commercial Share(s), 
the rights attached to the Commercial Share and only one class of the other classes of shares shall 
remain in force. The rights attached to the other classes of shares shall be suspended. 
 

(h) In the event of winding up, the holder of Commercial Shares shall rank in priority to any other class 
of shares in respect of the distribution of any funds that are left for distribution to the shareholders. 

 
Initial Shares 
 
(a) The Initial Shares shall confer upon the holders thereof a right to vote at any meeting of the Company 

with each Initial Share entitled to one vote. 
 

(b) No person shall hold more than one Initial Share at a time for the initial year starting August 2002. 
 

(c) The Initial Shares shall be issued only to the parents of Form One students admitted at the School for the 
year ended August 2002. Such Initial Shares may thereafter be transferred, subject to the provisions 
of Article 1 of the Company’s Constitution. Following the first issue of Initial Shares, no further Initial 
Shares shall be issued by the Company. 
 

(d) Subject to Article 1.2(b), of the Company’s Constitution the Initial Shares shall only be held by such 
person as may be approved from time to time by the Board of Directors. 
 

(e) The Initial Share shall confer upon its holder the right to have his/her child(ren) admitted to the School, 
subject to the child(ren) successfully passing the entrance examination of the School. 
 

(f) The holder of the Initial Share shall not be liable to pay an Inception Fee for the first two children 
admitted to the School. Thereafter, the holder of the Initial Share shall be liable to pay 50% of the 
Inception Fee as may be fixed by the Board of Directors from time to time in respect of any additional 
child admitted to the School. 
 

(g) The Initial Share shall also confer upon its holder the right to benefit from a 15% (fifteen percent) 
fee discount on the monthly school fees in respect of each child admitted to the School. 

 
(h) In the event that the holder of the Initial Share decides to dispose of his/her Initial Share/s ("the 

transferor"), the voting right of the Initial Share and the right of child admission attached to the 
Initial Share shall be transferred from the transferor to the person acquiring the share ("the 
transferee"). However, as long as any child of the transferor is still attending the School, the 
transferee shall not have the right to the benefit of the Initial Share to have any of his children 
admitted to the School. 

 
(i) The benefits contained in Articles 1.2(f) and 1.2(g) of the Company’s Constitution shall be cancelled 

upon the transfer of the Initial Share. 
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NORTHFIELDS INTERNATIONAL SCHOOLS HOLDINGS LIMITED 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
16. EQUITY (CONTINUED) 
 
Initial Shares (continued) 
 
(j) The holder of an Initial Share shall not be entitled to hold any Participating Primary Share, Business 
 Founding Share or Corporate Share in the Company 
 
(k) Where the holder of an Initial Share acquires any other share (including any other Initial Share) in 

the Company, which he is entitled by virtue of this Constitution to hold, the rights attached to such 
other share shall be suspended until the share is transferred to a person who is not already a member 
of the Company. 

 
Restricted Voting Full Founding Shares ("Full Founding Shares") 
 
(a) The Full Founding Shares shall not confer upon the holders thereof any right to vote at any meeting of 

the Company for a period of one year beginning as from the date this Constitution is approved. 
Subject to Article 1.3 of the Company’s Constitution, after the period of one year, each Full Founding 
Share in the Company shall carry one vote. 
 

(b) The Full Founding Shares may at any time only be held by such person as may be approved from time 
to time by the Board of Directors. 
 

(c) The Full Founding Shares shall confer upon its holder the right to admit his/her child(ren) to the 
School, subject to the child(ren) successfully passing the entrance examination of the School. 
 

(d) The holder of the Full Founding Share shall not be liable to pay the Inception Fee for his/her first child 
admitted to the School. Thereafter, the holder of the Full Founding Share shall pay 50% (fifty percent) of 
the Inception Fee in respect of each additional child admitted to the School. 
 

(e) The Full Founding Share shall also confer upon its holder thereof the right to benefit from a 5% (five 
percent) fee discount on the monthly school fees for the first child admitted, 10% (ten percent] for the 
second child and 15% (fifteen percent) for any additional child. 
 

(f) In the event that the holder of the Full Founding Share decides to dispose of his/her Full Founding 
 Share ("the transferor"), the voting right and the right of child admission attached to the Full Founding 

Share shall be transferred from the transferor to the person acquiring the share ("the transferee"). 
However, as long as any child of the transferor is still attending the School, the transferee shall not 
have the right to have any of his/her child admitted to the School. 

 
(g) The benefits contained in Article 1.4(d) and 1.3(e) of the Company’s Constitution shall be cancelled 
 upon the transfer of the Full Founding Share if the Full Founding Share has been used by any 

previous holder thereof for the admission of his/her child into the School. 
 
(h) The holder of Full Founding Share shall not be entitled to hold any Participating Primary Share, 

Business Founding Share or Corporate Share in the Company. 
 
(i) Where the holder of a Full Founding Share acquires any other share, including one or more other Full 

Founding Shares in the Company which he is entitled by virtue of this Constitution to hold, the rights 
attached to such other share shall be suspended until the share is transferred to a person who is not 
already a member of the Company. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
16. EQUITY (CONTINUED) 
 
Restricted Voting Founding Shares ("Founding Shares") 
 
(a) The Founding Shares shall not confer upon the holders thereof any right to vote at any meeting of 

the Company for a period of one year beginning as from the date this Constitution is approved. 
 
(b) Founding Shares may at any time only be held by such person as may be approved from time to time 
 by the Board of Directors. 
 
(c) The Founding Share shall confer upon its holder, the right to have his/her child(ren) admitted to the 

School, subject to the child(ren) successfully passing the entrance examination of the School. 
 
(d) The holder of the Founding Share(s) shall pay 50% (fifty percent) of the Inception Fee for his/her 

first child, admitted to the School. Thereafter, the holder of the Founding Share shall pay 75% 
(seventy-five percent) of the Inception Fee in respect of each additional child admitted to the School. 

 
(e) The Founding Share shall also confer upon its holder, the right to benefit from a 5% (five percent) 

fee discount on the monthly school fees for the second child admitted and; thereafter a 10% (ten 
percent) fee discount in respect of each additional child admitted to the School. 

 
(f) In the event that the holder of a Founding Share decides to dispose of his Founding Share ("the 

transferor"), the voting right and the right of admission attached to the Founding Share shall be 
transferred from the transferor to the person acquiring the share ("the transferee “).  However, as long 
as any child of the transferor is still attending the School, the transferee shall not have the right to the 
benefit of the Founding Share to have any of his/her child(ren) admitted to the School. 

 
(g) The benefits contained in Article 1.4(d) and 1.4(e) of the Company’s Constitution shall be cancelled 

upon the transfer of the Founding Share if the Founding Share has been used by any previous holder 
thereof for the admission of his/her child into the School. 

 
(h) The holder of a Founding Share shall not be entitled to hold any Participating Primary, Business 

Founding or Corporate Share in the Company. 
 
(i) Where the holder of a Founding Share acquires any other share, including one or more other 

Founding Shares in the Company which he is entitled by virtue of this Constitution to hold, the rights 
attached to such other share shall be suspended until the share is transferred to a person who is not 
already a member of the School. 

 
Restricted Voting Corporate Shares ("Corporate Shares") 
 
(a) The Corporate Shares shall at any time only be held by such entities as may be approved from time to 

time by the Board of Directors. 
 

(b) The Corporate Shares may only be issued to body corporate for the benefit of their employees. 
 

(c) The holder of a Corporate Share shall notify the School in writing of the name of the employee and 
the employee's child in whose favour the rights and benefits attached to the Corporate Share are to 
be exercised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
16. EQUITY (CONTINUED) 
 
Restricted Voting Corporate Shares ("Corporate Shares") (continued) 
 
(d) The Corporate Share shall not confer upon the holders thereof any right to vote at any meeting of the 

Company for a period of one year beginning as from the date this Constitution is approved. Subject to 
Article 1.5(j) of the Company’s Constitution, after the period of one year, each Corporate Share in the 
School shall carry one vote. 
 

(e) Each Corporate Share shall confer upon its holder, the right to have one employee's child admitted on a 
yearly basis to the School, subject to that child successfully passing the entrance examination. 
 

(f) Unless otherwise decided from time to time by the Board of Directors of the Company, the holder of 
the Corporate Share shall be liable to pay 100% (hundred percent) of the Inception Fee in respect of each 
employee's child admitted to the School. 

 
(g) Unless otherwise decided from time to time by the Board of Directors of the Company, the Corporate 

Share shall not confer any discount to its holder on the monthly school fees. 
 
(h) In the event that the holder of a Corporate Share decides to dispose of its share ("the transferor"), 

the voting right and the right of admission attached to that share shall be transferred from the transferor 
to the entity acquiring the share ("the transferee"). However, in case the transferor has admitted a child 
in the year of transfer, the transferee shall not have the right to admit any child in that year. 
 

(i) The holder of a Corporate Share shall not be entitled to hold any Initial Share, Full Founding Share, 
Founding Share or Participative Primary Share in the School. 
 

(j) Where the holder of a Corporate Share acquires any other share, including one or more other 
Corporate Share, in the Company, which he is entitled by virtue of this Constitution to hold, the voting 
rights attached to such other share shall be suspended until the share is transferred to a person who is 
not already a member of the School. 

 
Restricted Voting Participating Primary Shares ("Participating Primary Shares") 
 
(a) The Participating Primary Shares shall at any time only be held by such entities as may be approved 

from time to time by the Board of Directors. 
 

(b) The Participating Primary Share shall not confer upon the holder thereof any right to vote at any 
meeting of the Company for a period of one year beginning as from the date this Constitution is 
approved. After the period of one year, each Participating Primary Share in the Company shall carry 
one vote. 
 

(c) Each Participating Primary Share shall confer upon its holder the right to the admission of one child at 
the School on a yearly basis, subject to that child successfully passing the entrance examination. 
 

(d) The holder of the Participating Primary Share shall not be liable to pay any Inception Fee for any child 
admitted to the School for a period of ten years as from the beginning of August 2002. 
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NORTHFIELDS INTERNATIONAL SCHOOLS HOLDINGS LIMITED 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
16. EQUITY (CONTINUED) 
 
Restricted Voting Participating Primary Shares ("Participating Primary Shares") (continued) 

 
(e) Unless otherwise decided from time to time by the Board of Directors of the Company, the 

Participating Primary Share shall not confer any discount to its holder on the monthly school fees. 
 

(f) The Participating Primary Share shall only be transferable to such corporate body as the Board of 
Directors may approve. However, in case the transferor has admitted a child in the year of transfer, the 
transferee shall not have the right to admit any child in that year. 

 
(g) The Participating Primary Share shall only be available to existing primary schools wishing to admit a 

child on an annual basis in the School. 
 

(h) The holder of a Participating Primary Share shall not be entitled to hold any Initial Share, Full Founding 
Share, Founding Share, Corporate Share or Business Founding Share in the Company. 

 
Restricted Voting Business Founding Shares ("Business Founding Shares") 
 
(a) The Business Founding Share shall not confer upon the holder thereof any right to vote at any 

meeting of the Company for a period of one year beginning from the date this Constitution is 
approved. After one year, each Business Founding Share in the Company shall carry one vote. 
 

(b) The Business Founding Share shall at any time only be held by such corporate body as may be 
approved from time to time by the Board of Directors. 
 

(c) Each Business Founding Share shall confer upon its holder the right to have one child admitted to the 
School on a yearly basis, subject to that child successfully passing the entrance examination. 
 

(d) The holder of the Business Founding Share shall not be liable to pay any Inception Fee for any child 
admitted to the School. 
 

(e) The Business Founding Share shall also confer upon its holder the right to benefit from a 10% (ten 
percent) fee discount on the monthly school fees for each child. 
 

(f) The Business Founding Share shall only be transferable to such corporate body as the Board of 
Directors may approve. However, in case the transferor has admitted a child in the year of transfer, the 
transferee shall not have the right to admit any child in that year. 

 
(g) The Business Founding Share shall (unless otherwise decided by the Board of Directors) only be 

available to organisations that wish to have children of merit admitted in the School, but whose 
parents cannot afford to finance wholly or partly the studies of their child at the School. The admission 
of the child proposed by the member in any year shall be subject to the Board of Directors being 
reasonably satisfied of the merits of the candidate proposed by the member. 
 

(h) The holder of a Business Founding Share shall not be entitled to hold any Initial Share, Full Founding 
Share, Founding Share or Participating Primary Share in the Company.
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NORTHFIELDS INTERNATIONAL SCHOOLS HOLDINGS LIMITED 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 

17. REDEEMABLE NOTES / DEBENTURES 
 

 The Group         The Company 
 2023  2022  2023  2022 

 Mur  Mur  Mur  Mur 
Issued secured loan notes        
At 01 September 250,000,000  200,000,000   250,000,000  200,000,000  
Redeemed during the year -  (200,000,000)  -  (200,000,000) 
Issued during the year -  250,000,000  -  250,000,000 
At 31 August 250,000,000  250,000,000  250,000,000  250,000,000 
 

On 01 September 2022, 250,000 redeemable secured 5.25% Fixed Rate Notes due 2026, at an issue price of 
MUR 1,000 each, representing a total amount of MUR 250 million were issued to qualified investors by way 
of private placement. The issue of the notes was not underwritten.  The proceeds of the most recent note 
issue were used to repay the prior existing notes at the time. The subsequent notes have been listed on the 
Official Market of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd as from 24 September 2021. 
 
18. OBLIGATION UNDER LEASES 
 

Lease liabilities are payable as follows: 
 

 The Group       The Company 

 2023  2022 

 

2023  2022 
Mur Mur Mur Mur 

 
 

  
  

  

Right-of-use asset - premises        
At 01 September 21,642,540  -  21,642,540  - 
Additions -  22,009,363  -  22,009,363 
Depreciation charge for the year (4,401,876)  (366,823)  (4,401,876)  (366,823) 
At 31 August 17,240,664  21,642,540  17,240,664  21,642,540 

        

Lease liabilities        

At 01 September 22,197,862  -  22,197,862  - 
Additions -  22,009,363  -  22,009,363 
Repayment of leases (5,416,666)  -  (5,416,666)  - 
Interest for the year 1,002,436  188,499  1,002,436  188,499 
At 31 August 17,783,632  22,197,862  17,783,632  22,197,862 
 
Lease liabilities:  

 
 

 
 

 
 

Not later than one year 5,000,000  5,416,667  5,000,000  5,416,667 
Later than one year and not later 
than five years 

 
14,583,333  

 
19,583,333  

 
14,583,333  

 
19,583,333 

 19,583,333  25,000,000  19,583,333  25,000,000 
Future finance charges  
on leases 

 
(1,799,701)  

 
(2,802,138)  

 
(1,799,701)  

 
(2,802,138) 

Present value of lease liabilities 17,783,632  22,197,862  17,783,632  22,197,862 
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NORTHFIELDS INTERNATIONAL SCHOOLS HOLDINGS LIMITED 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
18. OBLIGATION UNDER LEASES (CONTINUED) 
 

 The Group        The Company 
 2023  2022  2023  2022 

 Mur  Mur  Mur  Mur 
The present value of lease liabilities is 
as follows: 

 
   

 
  

Not later than one year 4,207,435  4,414,230  4,207,435  4,414,230 
Later than one year and not later 
than five years 

 
13,576,197  

 
17,783,632  

 
13,576,197  

 
17,783,632 

 17,783,632  22,197,862  17,783,632  22,197,862 
 
Amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
 

 The Group         The Company 
 2023  2022  2023  2022 

 Mur  Mur  Mur  Mur 
        

Depreciation of right-of-use asset 4,401,876  366,823  4,401,876  366,823 
        

Interest expenses  
(included in finance costs) 

 
1,002,436  

 
188,499  

 
1,002,436  

 
188,499 

 
19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 

 The Group             The Company 
 2023  2022  2023  2022 

 Mur  Mur  Mur  Mur 
Non-current liabilities        
Trade payables 69,241,756  69,808,653  30,925,861  69,808,653 
 
Current liabilities        
Trade payables 146,151,253  116,166,557  5,140,745  46,362,470 
Other payables and accruals 36,940,946  24,605,265  1,545,515  22,431,065 
Amount due to related parties -  -  58,182,096  - 

 183,092,199  140,771,822  64,868,356  68,793,535 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
20. DEFINED PENSION BENEFIT 
 
(i) General description of the plan 
 
The Group has recognised a net benefit liability in respect of any retirement gratuities payable to its 
employees under the Workers’ Rights Act 2019 (“WRA 2019”). 
 
The movement in the present value of the defined retirement obligation is as follows: 
 

 The Group 

 
Present value 

of 
obligations 

 
Fair value 

of plan 
assets 

 
Net defined 

benefit 
obligations 

 Mur  Mur  Mur 
      

At 01 September 2021  7,228,817   -  7,228,817  
Amount recognised in profit or loss:      
Current service cost 1,263,000   -  1,263,000  
Interest cost 393,000   -  393,000  
Past service cost 273,000   -    273,000  
Remeasurements:      
Experience losses 538,000   -   538,000  
Changes in financial and demographic assumptions 1,292,000   -     1,292,000  
Contributions – paid by employer -     (1,085,000)  (1,085,000) 
Other benefits paid  (24,000)   24,000   - 
At 31 August 2022 10,963,817   (1,061,000)   9,902,817  
Amount recognised in profit or loss:      
Current service cost 2,465,183  -  2,465,183 
Interest cost 864,000  (112,000)  752,000 
Past service cost 5,980,000  -  5,980,000 
Remeasurements:      
Experience gains (514,000)  -  (514,000) 
Changes in financial and demographic assumptions 4,232,000  -  4,232,000 
Contributions – paid by employer -  (2,250,000)  (2,250,000) 
Other benefits paid (184,000)   184,000  - 
Return on plan assets -  112,000  112,000 
At 31 August 2023 23,807,000  (3,127,000)  20,680,000 
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NORTHFIELDS INTERNATIONAL SCHOOLS HOLDINGS LIMITED 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
20. DEFINED PENSION BENEFIT (CONTINUED) 
 
(i) General description of the plan (continued) 
 

 The Company 

 
Present value 

of 
obligations 

 
Fair value 

of plan 
assets 

 
Net defined 

benefit 
obligations 

 Mur  Mur  Mur 
      

At 01 September 2021  6,797,817    -      6,797,817  
Amount recognised in profit or loss:      
Current service cost  1,168,000    -      1,168,000  
Interest cost  374,000    -      374,000  
Past service cost  407,000   -   407,000  
Remeasurements:      
Experience losses  747,000    -      747,000  
Changes in financial and demographic assumptions  1,273,000    -      1,273,000  
Contributions – paid by employer  -      (964,000)   (964,000) 
Other benefits paid  (20,000)   20,000    -    
At 31 August 2022  10,746,817    (944,000)   9,802,817  
Amount recognised in profit or loss:      
Transfer to subsidiaries (10,746,817)  944,000  (9,802,817) 
 -  -  - 
 
(ii) Key assumptions used 
 

  The Group  The Company 

Financial assumptions  2023  2022  2023  2022 
Discount rate  4.70%  5.40%  -  5.40% 
Future salary increases  4.20%  3.30%  -  3.30% 
Average retirement age  60/65  60/65  -  60/65 
 
The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 16 years while the Group is expected to 
contribute around Mur 3,295,000 during the next financial year. 
 
(iii) Sensitivity analysis 
 

  The Group 
  2023  2022 
   Mur    Mur  

Impact on present value of the defined pension benefit plan:    

       
Increase due to 1% decrease in discount rate  4,979,000  2,208,000 
Decrease due to 1% increase in discount rate  4,174,000  1,790,000 
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NORTHFIELDS INTERNATIONAL SCHOOLS HOLDINGS LIMITED 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
20. DEFINED PENSION BENEFIT (CONTINUED) 
 
(iv) Risks 
 
The Group is subject to a partly funded defined benefit plan for the employees. The plan exposes the Group 
to normal risks described below: 
 
• Investment risk (where the plan is funded): The plan liability is calculated using a discount rate 

determined by reference to government bond yields; if the return on plan assets is below this rate, 
it will create a plan deficit and if it is higher, it will create a plan surplus. 

 
• Interest risk: A decrease in the bond interest rate will increase the plan liability.  However, this may 

be partially offset by a decrease in inflationary pressures on salary increases. 
 

• Salary risk: The plan liability is calculated by reference to the future projected salaries of plan 
participants. As such, an increase in the salary of the plan participants above the assumed rate will 
increase the plan liability whereas an increase below the assumed rate will decrease the liability. 

 
In addition, the Group has a residual obligation imposed by WRA 2019 on top of the DC pension plan, It is 
therefore particularly exposed to investment underperformance of the DC plan. 
 
21. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
During the year under review, the Company entered into the following transactions with its subsidiaries: 
 

 

Northfields 
International 
Nursery and 

Junior 
School Ltd  

Northfields 
International 
High School 

Limited   

Northfields 
International 

Nursery & 
Primary 

School Ltd  

Northfields 
Retail 

Company 
Limited 

 2023  2023  2023  2023 

 Mur  Mur  Mur  Mur 

        
Current accounts balances 1,000    (6,752,123)     (37,867,577)   (962,396) 
Loan receivables -     240,000,000   -     10,000,000  
Accounts receivables -     400,000   1,250,004         1,769,637  
Interest received in advance -      (12,600,000)  -     -    
Rental income 1,000,000   4,800,000          3,416,667   174,996 
Interest income -     5,250,000   -     218,750  
Management fees income -     -     -     1,375,891  
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NORTHFIELDS INTERNATIONAL SCHOOLS HOLDINGS LIMITED 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 

 
21. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 
 
 
 The Company 
 2023 

 Mur 
Short term benefits paid to key management personnel  
François Besson 88,000 
Proserpina Dhlamini Fisher 67,100 
Alexis Botes 46,200 
Mark Van Beuningen 154,550 
Hema Cederhage 33,000 
 388,850 
 
22. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
Overview 
 
The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 
 
- Credit risk 
- Liquidity risk 
- Market risk 
 
This note represents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, 
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk and the Group’s management of capital. 
 
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group's risk 
management framework. 
 
The Group's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to 
set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management 
policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group's activities. 
 
Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument 
fails to meet its contractual obligations and arises principally from the Group's receivables from customers. 
 
• Expected credit loss assessment 
 
The Company allocates each exposure to credit risk to a credit risk grade based on data that is determined 
to be predictive of the risk of loss (including but not limited to external ratings, audited financial statements, 
management accounts and cash flow projections and available press information about customers) and 
applying experienced credit judgement. Credit risk grades are defined using qualitative and quantitative 
factors that are indicative of the risk of default. 12-month and lifetime probabilities of default are based on 
historical data acquired for each company. 
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NORTHFIELDS INTERNATIONAL SCHOOLS HOLDINGS LIMITED 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
22. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

 
Credit risk (continued) 
 
• Expected credit loss assessment (continued) 
 
The Company applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which used a 
lifetime expected loss allowance for loans to related parties and other receivables. 
 
Credit risk is managed on a company basis. For banks and financial institutions, only independently rated 
parties are accepted. 
 
At the reporting date, the Group's exposure to credit risk was as follows: 
 

      The Group         The Company 
 2023  2022  2023  2022 

 Mur  Mur  Mur  Mur 
        

Loans to related parties -   -   1,000   1,258,277  
Loan receivables 13,324,397   13,324,397   263,324,397   13,324,397  
Trade receivables 7,208,151   18,367,681   1,419,641   10,445,728  
Other receivables 11,578,198   43,024,761   382,542   2,066,001  
Cash and cash equivalents 192,277,661  148,205,883   127,318,228   134,888,869  

 224,388,407  222,922,722  392,445,808  161,983,272 
 
• Loans to related parties 
 
Amounts due from a related party are considered recoverable by the Group’s and the Company’s 
management. 
 
The loans to related parties generally arise from transactions outside the usual operating activities of the 
Company. Interest may be charged at commercial rates where the terms of repayment exceed twelve 
months. Collateral is not normally obtained. There was no loss allowance in respect of loans to related 
parties. 
 
• Loan receivables 
 
Loans are unsecured, bear interest rate of 5.25% and 8% per annum and are receivable by 31 August 2026. 
The Company considers that the loans will be recoverable in full during the repayment period and no credit 
risk loss should be provided as at 31 August 2023. 
 
• Trade receivables 
 
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. 
The demographics of the Group’s customer base, including the default risk of the industry in which 
customers operate, has less of an influence on credit risk, 
 
Management has established a credit policy under which each new student is analysed individually for 
creditworthiness before the Group’s standard payment and conditions are offered. The Group requests each 
student to make a deposit which is refundable upon notification of departure by the student. 



79

 

 

 
  

 
NORTHFIELDS INTERNATIONAL SCHOOLS HOLDINGS LIMITED 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
22. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

 
Credit risk (continued) 
 
• Other receivables 
 
The exposure to credit risk on other receivables is monitored on an ongoing basis by the management and 
these are considered recoverable by the Group’s and the Company's management. 
 
• Cash and cash equivalents 
 
The bank balance has been assessed to have low credit risk as at 31 August 2023 as it is held with a reputable 
banking institution. 
 
Impairment on cash and cash equivalents has been measured on a 12-month expected loss basis and reflects 
the short maturities of the exposures. The Group and the Company consider that its cash and cash 
equivalents have low credit risk based on the external credit ratings of the counterparties. 
 
Liquidity risk 
 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The 
Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient 
liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring 
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group's reputation. 
 
Typically, the Group ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses 
for a period of 60 days, including the servicing of financial obligations; this excludes the potential impact of 
extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted, such as natural disaster. 
 

  
Less than 
one year  

Between 1 
and 5 years  

Over 5 
years 

  Mur  Mur  Mur 
At 31 August 2023       
Redeemable notes / debentures  -  250,000,000  - 
Obligations under leases  4,207,435  13,576,197  - 
Trade and other payables (The Company)  64,767,214  30,925,861  - 
Trade and other payables (The Group)  242,984,825  69,241,756  - 
 

  
Less than 
one year  

Between 1 
and 5 years  

Over 
 5 years 

  Mur  Mur  Mur 
At 31 August 2022       
Redeemable notes / debentures  -  250,000,000  - 
Obligations under leases  4,414,230  17,783,632  - 
Trade and other payables (The Company)  67,747,563  69,808,653  - 
Trade and other payables (The Group)  140,677,236  69,808,653  - 
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NORTHFIELDS INTERNATIONAL SCHOOLS HOLDINGS LIMITED 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
22. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
Interest rate risk 
 

The Group's income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest 
rates. The Group’s only significant interest-bearing financial assets and liabilities are cash at bank, bank 
overdraft, loan receivables and borrowings. Interest income and expense may fluctuate in amount, due to 
changes in interest rates. 
 
• Exposure 
 
At 31 August 2023, the Group's interest-bearing financial instruments included loan notes amounting to 
Mur 250,000,000 (2022 - Mur 250,000,000) and loan receivables of Mur 250,000,000 (2022 - Nil).  Both the loan 
notes and loan receivables carry interest at the rate of 5.25%.  The rate may increase or decrease depending 
on the prime lending rate. 

 
• Sensitivity analysis 

 
Any change in interest rate on the loan notes at the reporting date would have no impact on profit after tax 
for the Group (2022 - Mur 2,500,000) because it will be compensated by an equivalent impact resulting from 
a change in interest rate on the loan receivables. 
 
Foreign currency risk 
 
The Group is not exposed to currency risk since most of its assets and liabilities are denominated in the 
functional currency. 
 
Capital risk management 
 
The Group's primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as 
a going concern. 
 
The Group defines “capital" as including all components of equity. On this basis the amount of capital 
employed at 31 August 2023 was Mur 171,165,892 (2022 - Mur 110,039,721).  The Group's capital structure is 
regularly reviewed and managed with due regard to the capital management practices of the Group. 
 
The Group's and the Company’s net debt to equity ratio at the reporting date was as follows: 
 

     The Group         The Company 
 2023  2022  2023  2022 

 Mur  Mur  Mur  Mur 

Interest bearing debts 267,783,632   272,197,862   267,783,632   272,197,862  
Less: cash and cash equivalents (192,277,661)  (148,205,883)  (127,318,228)  (134,888,869) 
Net debt 75,505,971   123,991,979   140,465,404   137,308,993  
Total equity 171,165,892   110,039,721   459,357,410   113,263,693  
        
Net debt to equity 0.44  1.13  0.31  1.21 
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NORTHFIELDS INTERNATIONAL SCHOOLS HOLDINGS LIMITED 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
23. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
 
At 31 August 2023, the Group has no material litigation claims outstanding, pending or threatened against 
it, which could have a material adverse effect on the Group's financial position or results of operations. 
 
24. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 
 
Management has determined that there are no material events that would require disclosure in or 
adjustments to the financial statements. 
 
25.  BUSINESS COMBINATION 
 
On 01 September 2022, the Company entered into an asset purchase agreement with                                        
Northfields Retail Company Limited and Northfields International High School Limited as part of a 
restructuring process whereby the business and the following assets and liabilities were transferred for a 
net consideration of Mur 250,000,000.  As a result of this transaction, a profit on disposal of business 
amounting to Mur 313,214,726 has been recognised in profit or loss for the year are detailed below: 
 

 Northfields 
International 
High School 

Limited 

 Northfields 
Retail 

Company 
Limited 

 

Total 
 Mur  Mur  Mur 
      
Assets transferred      
Property, plant and equipment 12,512,886  97,750  12,610,636 
Intangible asset 61,779  -  61,779 
Current assets 15,746,151  3,090,190  18,836,341 
 28,320,816  3,187,940  31,508.756 
Liabilities transferred      
Non-current liabilities (9,802,817)  -  (9,802,817) 
Current liabilities (84,920,665)  -  (84,920,665) 
 (66,402,666)  3,187,940  (63,214,726) 
Less non-cash consideration  (240,000,000)   (10,000,000)  (250,000,000) 
Profit on disposal of business (Note 6) 306,402,666  6,812,060  313,214,726 
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(FORMERLY KNOWN AS NORTHFIELDS INTERNATIONAL HIGH SCHOOL LIMITED) 
 
APPENDICES 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

 
  The Group  The Company 

  2023  2022  2023  2022 
 Note Mur  Mur  Mur  Mur 
         

Revenue 1 287,935,898   165,370,775   -   141,728,131  
Cost of sales  (4,692,506)   (5,398,823)  -   (5,353,301) 
Gross profit  283,243,392   159,971,952   -   136,374,830  
Other income 2 8,606,984  8,382,307  328,226,607  11,999,659 
Total income  291,850,376  168,354,259  328,226,607  148,374,489 

         
Operating expenses 3 (183,590,338)   (110,854,647)  -   (95,808,781) 
Administrative expenses 4 (49,638,177)  (29,701,002)  (2,853,480)  (26,760,543) 
Earnings before interest, 
tax, depreciation and 
samortisation (EBITDA)  58,621,861  27,798,610  325,427,912  25,805,165 

         
Depreciation and 
amortisation  (15,180,724)  (11,885,483)  (9,146,741)  (10,842,548) 

         
Finance income  2,554,778  119,994  6,634,298  119,994 
Finance expenses  (14,181,375)  (13,277,541)  (14,181,375)  (13,277,541) 
Net finance expenses  (11,626,597)  (13,157,547)  (7,547,077)  (13,157,547) 

         
Profit before taxation  31,814,540  2,755,580  308,734,094  1,805,070 
         
Taxation  (4,731,512)  (615,307)  (513,520)  (613,307) 
Profit after taxation  27,083,028  2,140,273  308,220,574  1,191,763 
         
Other comprehensive 
income  34,043,143  6,043,640  37,873,143  5,853,640 
Total comprehensive 
income for the year  61,126,171  8,183,913  346,093,717  7,045,403 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page does not form part of the audited statutory accounts and is included solely for the information of management. 
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NORTHFIELDS INTERNATIONAL SCHOOLS HOLDINGS LIMITED 
(FORMERLY KNOWN AS NORTHFIELDS INTERNATIONAL HIGH SCHOOL LIMITED) 
 
APPENDICES 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 (CONTINUED) 
 
1. REVENUE 
 

 The Group  The Company 
 2023  2022  2023  2022 

 Mur  Mur  Mur  Mur 
        

Fees - school 264,472,610   148,329,754   -   127,081,163  
Fees book subscription -   2,816,762   -   2,816,762  
Subscription and inception fees 16,267,586   8,024,682   -   5,630,629  
Sale of uniform 4,342,263   6,199,577   -   6,199,577  
Sale of canteen 2,853,439  -  -  - 

 287,935,898   165,370,775   -   141,728,131  
 
2. OTHER INCOME 
 

 The Group             The Company 
 2023  2022  2023  2022 

 Mur  Mur  Mur  Mur 
        

Canteen income -   3,569,533   -   3,569,533  
Income from other activities 8,600,387   4,629,312   13,690,775   4,409,577  
Profit on disposal of property, plant 
and equipment 

 
6,597  

 
 -   

 
-  

 
 -    

Profit on disposal of business -  -  313,214,726  - 
Management fees -   -   1,375,891   3,837,087  
Bad debts recovered -   183,462   -   183,462  

 8,606,984   8,382,307   328,281,392   11,999,659  
 
3.  OPERATING EXPENSES 
 

 The Group  The Company 

 2023  2022  2023  2022 
 Mur  Mur  Mur  Mur 

        
Academic expenses (11,127,762)   (6,087,628)  -     (5,601,650) 
Employee benefit expenses (172,462,576)  (104,767,019)  -  (90,207,131) 
 (183,590,338) 

 
(110,854,647)  -  (95,808,781) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This page does not form part of the audited statutory accounts and is included solely for the information of management. 
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NORTHFIELDS INTERNATIONAL SCHOOLS HOLDINGS LIMITED 
(FORMERLY KNOWN AS NORTHFIELDS INTERNATIONAL HIGH SCHOOL LIMITED) 
 
APPENDICES 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 (CONTINUED) 

 
4. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 
 

 The Group  The Company 

 
2023  2022  2023  2022 
Mur  Mur  Mur  Mur 

        
Advertising and promotions 322,529   4,405,483   6,375   4,324,643  
Telephone, fax and internet 1,092,874   717,181   -   657,406  
Electricity and water 3,244,487   1,472,154   -   1,333,159  
Repairs and maintenance 11,128,329   4,245,930   2,352,208   3,726,714  
Security services 657,215   560,539   -   555,278  
Insurance 1,264,483   704,025   -   628,642  
Office and general expenses 9,747,616   934,688   -   748,324  
Computer expenses 2,418,397   462,149   -   282,221  
Postage, printing and stationery 3,733,234   916,014   4,570   766,992  
Entertainment 45,714   744,153   -   699,167  
Bank charges 296,001   151,654   4,778   116,210  
Professional fees 9,696,374   10,167,877   471,019   9,593,121  
Canteen -   1,947,634   -   1,947,634  
Gifts and donation 1,929,400   158,560   -   150,186  
Overseas travel 1,292,082   54,724   -   54,724  
Rental charges 1,590,821   1,387,249   -   661,483  
Licence fees 656,474   130,740   14,530   34,530  
Loss on disposal of property, 
plant and equipment 

 
-  

 
26,573   

 
-  

 
26,573  

Commission -   213,300   -   213,300  
Motor vehicles repairs and 
road taxes 

 
213,636  

 
190,657   

 
-  

 
181,057  

Medical expenses 264,926   51,718   -   34,179  
Bad debts 43,585   58,000   -   25,000  

 49,638,177   29,701,002   2,853,480   26,760,543  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This page does not form part of the audited statutory accounts and is included solely for the information of management. 




